EFFECTS OF PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY AND REWARDS ON ESCALATION OF COMMITMENTS IN NEW PRODUCT CONTEXT

by

SUNIL HARISHBHAI CONTRACTOR

(Under the Direction of Thomas W. Leigh)

ABSTRACT

The Escalation of Commitment (EC) to a new product development (NPD) project is aptly characterized as "throwing good money after bad money" because the continuation of a failing course wastes scarce resources and precludes the opportunity of investing in alternate projects. Many studies have enhanced our understanding of EC. The focus of these studies is to explain EC in behavioral terms. In addition to explaining behavior, studies on EC should focus on understanding psychological aspects associated with EC in order to provide insights concerning the processes that guide managers' behavior. The extant research on EC suggests that managers' perception of personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project is an antecedent of EC. However, we don't know which psychological components of commitment are escalated. Furthermore, we don't know when (i.e. NPD outset or post failure) these components are escalated.

Researchers suggest self-justification theory as a rationale for EC to NPD when a manager is personally responsible for initiating the NPD project. Self-justification theory employs a behavioral commitment view. This view suggests that the effects of personal responsibility to initiate a project on future behavior and attitudes towards the project are reduced when rewards are associated with the personal responsibility. In fact, under the title of "Reverse Incentive Effect," a parallel stream of research exists to explain a counterintuitive effect in which a smaller reward produces a higher effect than a larger reward. However, we don't know which components of commitments are associated with the reverse incentive effect.

The objective of this dissertation is to identify which components of commitments are escalated, when are the components escalated and which components of the commitment are involved in the reverse incentive effect. Consistent with the experimental method in EC, a 2x2 experiment design is employed in which the independent variables are personal responsibility to initiate NPD project and reward. The results of this experiment support my hypotheses and suggests 1) a differential effect of interaction between personal responsibility to initiate project and reward on components of psychological commitment at the outset of NPD project, and 2) change in the effects of interaction between the personal responsibility and rewards on the components upon potential NPD failure. Based on the empirical findings theoretical and managerial implications as well as possible future research, are discussed.

INDEX WORDS: Escalation of Commitment, Reverse Incentive Effect, Personal Responsibility, Rewards, Commitment, Self-Justification Theory, and Outcome based rewards

EFFECTS OF PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY AND REWARDS ON ESCALATION OF COMMITMENTS IN NEW PRODUCT CONTEXT

by

SUNIL HARISHBHAI CONTRACTOR

M.B. A, Ohio State University, 1992

M.S., Northeastern University, 1988

B.S., Gujarat University, India, 1984

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GEORGIA

© 2007

Sunil Harishbhai Contractor

All Rights Reserved

EFFECTS OF PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY AND REWARDS ON ESCALATION OF COMMITMENTS IN NEW PRODUCT CONTEXT

by

SUNIL HARISHBHAI CONTRACTOR

Major Professor:

Thomas W. Leigh

Committee:

Piyush Kumar Richard J. Fox

Electronic Version Approved:

Maureen Grasso Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia May 2007

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife Bela, my son Parth and my daughter Niti as well as my mother Harshilaben and my father Harishbhai. Without their love, encouragement, support and sacrifice it would have been impossible to attain this degree.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Attaining a PhD degree is like running a triathlon race involving course work, comprehensive exams and a dissertation. Each stage of a PhD triathlon requires motivation, effort, endurance as well as a different set of skills and mindsets to finish. Hence, like any other race, it is difficult to run this PhD-triathlon without a coach. I wish to acknowledge and express my gratitude to the following individuals who coached me.

Dr. Thomas W. Leigh, my dissertation committee chair and advisor, accepted me as his student and gave me freedom for exploring my interests. He understood my strengths as well as skills and guided me accordingly. He stepped in when needed and directed me when I was following an incorrect path. Although he is going through a major health problem, he gave me needed time, support and resources. I will always have a special respect for him.

Dr. Piyush Kumar, who guided me more than a dissertation committee member would, showed me the tactics and strategies for making a research project more interesting to enhance its contributions. He spent many late nights, weekends and holiday hours in email exchanges to fine-tune the concept and design of my research. His guidance and support helped me scope the dissertation and he enabled this project to continue to progress during and after Dr. Leigh had a surgery.

Dr. Richard Fox gave me advice as well as guidance on data analysis and verified my work. I gained hands on academics research experience as his research assistant. Furthermore, his guidance helped me improve my pedagogy.

v

Dr. George Zinkhan, Dr. John Wurst, Dr. Cara Peters and Dr. Chris Plouffe, (Marketing department, UGA), Dr. Alan Amason and Dr. Bob Vandenberg (Management department, UGA), Dr. Ellena Carahana (MIS department, UGA), Dr. Chris Cornwell (Economics department, UGA), Dr. T. N. Sriram, Dr. Xiang Yin (Statistics Department, UGA), Dr. Leonard Reid (Advertising and Public Relations department, UGA) and Dr. Hal Rainey (Political Science department, UGA) taught various PhD seminars I took, and I shared their knowledge.

I also want to thank the following individuals who supported my endeavor by variety of ways.

I want to acknowledge and thank my friends Dr. Satya Chakravorty (Kennesaw State University), Dr. Naveen Donthu (Georgia State University) and Dr. Madhavan Swaminathan (Georgia Institute of Technology) for giving me guidance and encouragement to join a PhD program. During the PhD, I have bugged them frequently to discuss all the issues and problems I perceived. They have listened to me patiently and given me encouragement as well as needed support.

I want to thank my sister Shtal Gandhi and brother in law Shriram Gandhi, friends Rita Chakravorty and Shaileja Madhavan as well as my in-laws Govind Shah and Bhanu Shah for all the support they have given to my family and me.

I want to thank my friends Navneet Patel, Vaishali Patel, Dipan Shah, Jaishri Shah, Praving Vaghela, and Sandeep Parikh for helping me to settle in Athens, GA.

I want to thank my brother Manan Contractor, "bhabhi" (sister-in-law) Chetna Contractor, for taking care of all the family responsibilities in India and providing support.

I want to thank and bow to my parents Harshila Contractor and Harish Contractor for my upbringing. They have stressed the importance of education since my childhood. They have

vi

tutored me and built strong foundations during my early education. They have sacrificed a lot and funded my higher education in USA despite its significant expense to them. Without their blessings I could not have succeed.

Lastly, I want to acknowledge and thank a very special and the best supporting crew any PhD-triathlon runner could have: my wife Bela and my children Parth and Niti. They ran a "quadra-thlon" by putting up with me, facilitating all the things I needed, accommodating my schedule and giving me support as well as encouragement. I am thankful to Parth for listening to my research, sharing his thoughts and giving me encouragement by saying "daddy your research makes sense". I am thankful to Niti for reminding me to smile and giving me hugs and kisses when I was down. Finally I am thankful to Bela for being the "sherpa" who walked with me side by side and carried the entire load. She played a "superwoman" role by not only managing the house and kids but also by taking up a job and supporting us financially. I truly believe that the supporting crew deserves all the glory and pat on the back for our success. Niti, Parth and Bela we did it! I Love you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page				
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv				
LIST OF TABLES xi				
LIST OF FIGURES xii				
CHAPTER				
1 Introduction1				
Importance of the Research Area1				
Gaps in the Literature1				
Objectives of the Study				
Organization of the Dissertation4				
2 Literature Review				
Scope of the Phenomena5				
Antecedents of Escalation of Commitment				
3 Definition of Escalation of Commitment17				
Issues Concerning The Commonly Adopted Definition of EC17				
New Product Development and Commitment to NPD Project				
Attitudinal or Prospective Commitment19				
Behavioral or Retrospective Commitment20				
Proposed Definition of EC21				
4 Hypotheses Development24				

	Self Justification Theory	24
	Effects of PRI on Commitment Components at NPD Outset	26
	Effects of Rewards on Commitment Components at NPD Outset	27
	Effects of Interaction Between Personal Responsibility and Rewards on	
	Commitment Components	28
	Self Justification and Intention to Continue Failing NPD Project	30
5	Research Design	32
	Overview of the Experiment	32
	Experimental Treatments	33
	Details of a Pilot Test	36
	Sample Characteristics	36
6	Measurement of Variables	38
	Felt Responsibility	38
	Three Components of Commitment	38
	Go/No Go decision	40
	Indicators Suggesting Self Justification Process for Each Participant	41
7	Data Analysis	42
	General Approach for the Data Analysis	42
	Verification of No Differences Among Sub-samples	42
	Results of Manipulation Checks	42
	Results of MANOVA and ANOVA	44
8	Discussion	52
	Outline of the Research	52

	Major Findings	53		
	Summary of Findings	56		
9	Implications	58		
	Research Implications	58		
	Managerial Implications	60		
10	Future Research	62		
REFERENCES				
APPENDIX				
А	Sample Data Collection Instrument	69		

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1: Items Used to Measure Felt Responsibility
Table 2: Items Used To Measure Commitment Components
Table 3: Items Used to Measure Self-Justification
Table 4: Cross-Sectional Pre Failure and Post Failure Mean Ratings of Dependent Variables Per
Treatment Groups and Significance of Predictors46
Table 5: Effect of Personal Responsibility on EC at NPD Outset
Table 6: Effect of Rewards on EC at NPD Outset47
Table 7: Effect of Personal Responsibility*Reward Interaction on EC at NPD Outset48
Table 8: Effect of Personal Responsibility*Reward Interaction on EC at Post NPD Failure49

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Self Justification Based Escalation of Commitment to NPD11
Figure 2: Process of Building Commitment to NPD19
Figure 3: High Personal Responsibility Manipulation
Figure 4: Low Personal Responsibility Manipulation
Figure 5: High Rewards Manipulation
Figure 6: NPD Performance Information Used to Stimulate Project Failure
Figure 7: Sample Mean Ratings of Commitment for Treatment Groups45
Figure 8: Sample Mean Ratings of Felt Responsibility, Justification and Continuation Intentions
for Treatment Groups45
Figure 9: Inter-Temporal Change in Commitments

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1. Importance of the Research Area

Although new product development (NPD) is a vital activity to most firms, it is also a risky business. New products absorb scarce resources in increasing quantities over the developmental cycle starting from idea generation to its commercialization. However, only a small percentage of NPD projects that reach commercialization are profitable (Page 1993). According to Urban and Hauser (1993), the cost of these failures is millions of dollars. Thus, it is important to intelligently and objectively screen and selectively discontinue NPD projects in order to save valuable resources. Unfortunately, empirical evidence suggests that managers actually tend to escalate their commitment to failing new product development (NPD) projects (Schmidt and Calantone 1998; 2002). This escalation of commitment (EC) phenomena is aptly characterized as "throwing good money after bad money" because the continuation of a failing NPD project wastes scarce resources and precludes the opportunity of investing in alternate projects.

2. Gaps in the Literature

Many studies have been conducted to understand the EC phenomena (Boulding et al. 1997; Brockner 1992; Schmidt and Calantone 1998; Schmidt et al. 2001; Staw 1997). These studies typically define escalation of commitment in terms of the behavioral continuation of a failing NPD project. They contribute significantly to our understanding by identifying antecedent conditions that trigger EC and proposing theories to explain EC. Fishbein and Ajzen (1980) suggest that, in addition to explaining overt behavior such as continuation of a failing NPD

project, it is also important to understand attitudes that influence the behavior. However, EC studies have not attempted to understand how a manager's attitudes or psychological states¹ affect continuation of failing NPD projects. Identification of a manager's psychological states associated with EC to a NPD project will shed light on how needs, obligations and wants of the manager operate in a NPD context. In turn, the understanding of psychological states associated with EC will suggest possible ways to more effectively discontinue failing NPD projects. For example, identification of an obligation as a root cause of EC would suggest that a change in an NPD team's norms or the culture of the organization might limit EC; however, if needs are identified as a root cause of EC, then a change in the NPD team's rewards structure might be suggested. Identification of psychological states associated with EC would also provide insight concerning the processes that guide a manager's EC to a NPD project. When EC is evaluated solely in terms of the continuation of a failing NPD project, we cannot determine if the managers' psychological states were escalated before NPD failure, or due to the NPD failure itself. Furthermore, we cannot determine which components of psychological commitment were escalated and, hence, control the escalation process.

Research on EC suggests that an individual has a greater tendency to escalate commitment to a failing course of action when he is personally responsible for initiating the NPD project in the first place (Staw 1976). Most organizations follow a stage-gate process that involves incremental steps for the development of new products (Cooper 1994). Schmidt and Calantone (2002) posit that the EC phenomena is applicable to the NPD decision since the NPD process meets the required conditions for EC phenomena, as suggested by Staw (1997), in that it offers the opportunity to either persist or withdraw in case of a potentially negative consequence.

¹ Recent development in the literature of commitment suggests that psychological state is broader concept than attitudes Meyer, John P. and Natalie J. Allen (1997), Commitment in the Workplace: Theory, Research, and Application. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publication.

Subsequently, they confirm that a manager, who was personally responsible for initiating an NPD project, exhibited a behavioral tendency to continue a failing NPD project. They call for an identification of other antecedents of EC in the NPD context, including the effects of the reward structure motivating the manager.

Rewards are a tool for eliciting desired behavior (Eisenhardt 1985). In the NPD contexts, rewards are often tied to the success of the NPD project². Such rewards may directly affect a manager's commitment to completing an NPD project whether or not he is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. Thus, understanding the effects of rewards on managers' psychological states as well as the behavioral tendency to continue a failing NPD project is important. Furthermore, since rewards and personal responsibility may affect the decision of an NPD manager, understanding the interaction effects of these antecedents on root psychological states, which may drive a NPD manager's tendency to continue a failing NPD project is desirable. Particularly, the understanding of root psychological states when a manager is personally responsible for an NPD project and/or rewarded for a NPD project will illuminate the nature of interactions between personal responsibility and rewards. This understanding, in turn, will not only enable us to devise effective strategies to control the escalation process as suggested earlier, but the understanding will also enable us to better assign responsibility and rewards in order to curtail triggering of the escalation process.

3. Objectives of the Study

The purpose of this dissertation is to advance our understanding of the escalation of commitment phenomenon in the NPD context. Specifically, the objectives are to:

² Organizations define NPD success differentially based on meeting or exceeding one or more of market performance targets such as revenue goal or a market share and/or launch of product in a market.

- Introduce a conceptual model that defines EC as a cross sectional or inter-temporal increase in any of the distinct psychological states. These psychological states, namely affective commitment, normative commitment and continuance commitment, are the underlying roots of commitment. These roots represent managers' needs, obligations, and wants for NPD projects, respectively.
- 2. Identify and evaluate psychological states that may drive an NPD manager to escalate commitment when he/she is personally responsible for initiating the NPD project.
- Identify and evaluate the effects of reward as a potential driver of EC with emphasis on identifying psychological states that drive a manager's decision to escalate commitment when reward is based on the success of the NPD project.
- 4. Theoretically and empirically examine the nature of interaction between personal responsibility and rewards on alternative roots (i.e. psychological states) of commitment as well as the choice to continue a failing NPD project.

4. Organization of the Dissertation

The remainder of this dissertation is organized as follows. First, I summarize the literature on commitment in the NPD context. Then I define EC as a derived construct of commitment having three components: affective commitment, normative commitment and continuance commitment. Next, I develop the research hypotheses to investigate effects of personal responsibility and/or rewards on EC to NPD project. Subsequently, I describe an experiment that was conducted to test these hypotheses. Finally, I present the empirical results of the study and its implications for future research and managerial practice.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

The objective of this chapter is to summarize the extant research on escalation of commitment. First, the scope of the research on escalation of commitment is described. Then the research on EC is summarized employing a scheme that categorizes antecedents associated with EC. Subsequently, theoretical mechanisms proposed by researchers to explain the EC phenomena are described in the NPD context.

1. Scope of the Phenomena

The escalation of commitment phenomena pertains to decision making in situations where efforts to achieve something have failed and corrective actions can actually deepen or compound the loss associated with the situation (Staw 1997). For example, when an individual is losing money in a common stock, should he/she invest more money to reduce average cost or sell the stock? Similarly, when a manager has invested money in a poorly performing project, should he invest more money to improve project's performance or should he discontinue the project? In each case, escalating commitment may often compound the problem.

Formally, Staw (1997) defines an escalation situation as one in which loss has been suffered; in which there is an opportunity to persist or withdraw; and, in which the consequences of these actions are uncertain. Schmidt and Calantone (2002) note that NPD managers employ a stage gate process that includes multiple decision points. At each decision point in the process, NPD managers review the project's performance and make an investment decision (i.e. go/no-go decision) to pursue the development or withdraw from it. Thus, when an NPD project is not

performing to the expectations defined based on an objective criteria, the NPD go/no-go decision is a potential escalation situation.

The scope of EC research is not limited to the NPD context. Researchers have studied decision making during the Vietnam War and Desert Storm (Lipshitz 1995); case studies of Expo 86 (Ross and Staw 1986); the Apollo moon mission (Mitroff 1974); the Campeau-Federated merger, the coffee wars between Philip Morris and P&G (Bazerman and Neale 1992); the NBA draft (Staw and Hoang 1995); and information technology projects (Keli 1995, Keli, Mann and Rai 2000) as escalation situations. They have identified several antecedents of escalation of commitment and proposed many theoretical mechanisms to explain it.

2. Antecedents of Escalation of Commitment

In his seminal paper, Staw (1976) conducted a role-playing experiment by asking participants to assume a position of a vice president of a company. He randomly assigned the subjects to one of the two treatment groups by manipulating responsibility to initiate a project at two levels (choosing a project and justifying the selection or project organizationally assigned). Next, he manipulated the predicted project outcome at two levels. One group of subjects was provided positive outcome information; the other group of subjects was provided negative outcome information. Subsequently, he asked subjects in both groups to make a decision as to whether they should invest additional resources. He observed that the subject group, which had personally initiated a project that subsequently had a negative outcome, allocated significantly more money to continue the project than the other subject groups. Hence, he concluded that individuals have a tendency to escalate commitment to a failing project when they are responsible for initiating the project.

The results of Staw's research generated significant interest in the escalation of commitment phenomena. Other researchers have replicated Staw's results, as well as extended our understanding of the phenomena. This research suggests that, even though rational decision-making would suggest individuals to withdraw from a failing course of action, individuals tend to escalate commitment and persist with the course of action for a variety of reasons. Staw and Ross (Staw 1997; Staw and Ross 1987; 1989) have reviewed the research on EC and proposed a classification scheme that categorizes the determinants of escalation of commitment into four groups: project determinants, psychological determinants, social determinants and organizational determinants. A brief description of each group follows:

2.1. Project Determinants

Project determinants are the objective features of a project that affect the financial value or utility of a course of action as well as broader economics of the investment situation (Staw 1997). Specifically, individuals tend to continue a failing course of action when 1) a setback is perceived to be due to temporary causes (Leatherwood and Conlon 1985; Levi 1982) 2) the efficacy of further investment/actions in turning a losing situation around is thought to be positive (Bateman 1983; Conlon & Wolf 1980; Staw and Fox 1977) 3) the size of project's goal or eventual payoff (Rubin & Brockner 1975) 4) the level of future expenditures or costs necessary to complete a project's goals or achieve its payoff (Brockner, Rubin & Lang 1981) 5) the availability of feasible alternatives to a course of action (Bateman 1983; Northcraft & neale 1986); and, the salvage value of closing costs for ending a project (Northcraft & Wolf 1984).

Subsequently, Schmidt and Calantone (1998) suggested that innovativeness of NPD project also triggers escalation of commitment. Following a commonly adopted research methodology for EC, the authors assigned experimental group subjects to develop a product

which was manipulated to be perceived as either high or low in its innovativeness. Then, the authors simulated an NPD failure by presenting lackluster performance data and asked the experimental and control subjects to make a project continuation decision. The results show that individuals who perceive an NPD project to be innovative have a higher likelihood to continue the failing NPD project than individuals, who perceive an NPD project to be less innovative. In summary, various attributes of a project's characteristics are antecedents to EC.

2.2 Social Determinants

This category represents social pressure on individuals' decision to continue a losing course of action. Decisions in an organization are not made in isolation. Hence, individuals need to consider ongoing social interactions and interpersonal relationships when making a decision. Individuals may continue a losing course due to norms for consistency (Staw and Ross 1980), or face saving, or public identification with a project (Brockner et al. 1981; Fox and Staw 1979). Furthermore, in addition to the external justification by publicly noting the accountability to others, individuals may continue a losing course of action due to internal justification that pertains to one's own felt sense of accuracy and competence (Bobocel and Meyer 1994). Another social determinant of escalation involves the attribution of leadership (Staw et al. 1997). An individual may continue a losing course because making it a success may be associated with a social reward of demonstrating a positive attribute of leadership.

2.3 Organizational Determinants

While social determinants are individual level determinants for EC, the organizational determinants are group level causes for EC. The organizational level determinants cannot be attributed to any single individual and are the product of social interactions and interpersonal relationships among members of the organization (Staw 1997). For a variety of reasons,

organizations are slow to respond or change a loosing course of action. The slow response may be attributed to a lack of right information communicated to a centralized decision-making authority or to resistance from affected constituencies. Stakeholders, e.g. channel members, who are not employees of the organization, may also initiate such political resistance. In addition, the mission of the organization or culture and value system of organization may mandate continuation of a losing course.

2.4 Psychological Determinants

Psychological determinants suggest why people do not turn away from a loosing course of action when the first real sign of trouble appears and indicates that the promised benefits are not going to materialize (Staw 1997). There are various explanations for this irrational behavior including optimism and illusion of control, self-justification, framing effects, agency effects, attribution, sunk costs and initial positive belief inertia. A brief description of each theory within an NPD context is as follows.

2.4.1 Optimism and Illusion of Control

The optimism (Tylor 1989) and illusion of control (Langer 1975) viewpoint are based on a tendency of people to overestimate the likelihood that positive events will occur in their lives and underestimate the likelihood of negative outcomes due to illusion of control (i.e. belief that one can control one's destiny) (Langer 1975). This view posits that people perceive themselves to perform better than others in most situations as well as believe in their ability to avoid future mishaps. Hence, individuals may not neutrally process objective economic data but they inflate NPD project's success expectations due to this optimism and illusion of control.

2.4.2 Self Justification Theory

Staw and his colleagues (Staw 1981; 1976; Staw and Fox 1977; Staw and Ross 1978) propose Self Justification Theory (SJT) as possible explanation for EC. They suggest that a manager who is personally responsible for initiating a NPD project will continue funding the failing project due to a felt need to self-justify his initial decision. The self-justification theory suggests that, because a decision is a psychologically binding act, an individual's initial behavior will influence his future behavior and attitudes (Staw 1976). Staw's rationale is that once a decision is made, future decisions are made to justify the first decision by changing one's attitudes to resolve imbalances between one's motivated state (i.e. a belief that the first decision was right thing to do) and the inconsistent results of the first decision. Self-justification theory is based on cognitive dissonance theory (Festinger 1957), which posits that an individual's psychological discomfort arising from an existence of dissonance (inconsistency between two cognitions held concurrently) motivates the individual to reduce discomfort by achieving consonance (consistency between two cognitions held concurrently).

Many studies have suggested SJT as possible rationale for EC to NPD (Schmidt and Calantone (2002), Brockner (1992) and Staw (1997). According to Brockner (1992), three very different types of research studies have yielded results supportive of the SJT model of EC. The first type suggests SJT as a possible rationale for EC by showing that in high need to justify situations (i.e. where an NPD manager is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project and subsequently the project is potentially failing) manager's EC to NPD is the greatest. The second type of studies suggests SJT as possible rationale for EC by showing that an NPD manager, who escalates commitment by continuing a failing NPD project, is more likely to endorse self justification measures such as "Once I had already invested a certain amount, I had

to keep going" (Strube and Lott 1984). Finally, the third type of studies suggest SJT as possible rationale for EC by showing that pre conditions of self justification based rationale for EC also influence the information that individuals seek as well as the information that they present to others (Caldwell and O'Reilly 1982; Conlon and Parks 1987).

As shown in Figure 1, the self-justification process involves choice and a public or private justification of a NPD project by a decision maker. It further involves a continuation of the NPD project to reduce or eliminate a cognitive dissonance between justification for a success of the project and an analysis of subsequent negative results suggesting failure. A public justification involves informing others of a rationale for project selection while private justification does not involve sharing a rationale with others. Researchers have tested and confirmed that escalation occurs for public as well as private justification, and no significant difference in effect size exists between the justifications (Bobocel and Meyer 1994).



2.4.3 Prospect Theory

Whyte (1986) has disagreed with this self-justification based rational for NPD escalation. He argues that self-justification motives could be replaced by more general decision errors based on the framing effect. The framing effect suggests that an individual's behavior differ for a positively and negatively framed outcome (Kahneman and Tversky 1979). Specifically, when a decision is framed in terms of a positive outcome, individuals are risk averse; however, when a decision is framed in terms of a negative outcome, individuals are risk seekers. Hence, Whyte (1986) proposes prospect theory as a possible rationale for EC. Prospect theory (PT) explains individual's risk-taking propensity under conditions of uncertainty (Kahneman and Tversky 1979; 1982). Prospect theory claims that how an NPD manager frames a decision, i.e. a decision viewed as an opportunity to save additional resources or as taking a loss of invested resources in a failing NPD project, is a salient determinant of continuation of the failing NPD project. The theory does not suggest what type of decision frame is adopted in a given circumstance, but the theory does suggest that an individual adopts a risk-averse behavior when a decision is framed as a gain, i.e. opportunity to save additional resources, and a risk taking behavior when a decision is framed as loss i.e. loss of invested resources in a failing project. Hence, Whyte (1986) posits that when an NPD project is failing, a manager frames the decision as loss of resources. Thus, the manager does not truncate the project to avoid sure loss, but the manager gambles more investments in the project.

The prospect theory is applicable as a rationale for EC only when loss is involved and not applicable when an NPD project is a success. While NPD researchers have not explicitly tested the prospect theory as a possible rationale for EC in NPD context, NPD research indirectly suggests that the prospect theory may explain EC in NPD context. For example, Schmidt and

Calantone (2002) observed that many individual's continued failing NPD project to avoid loss of invested resources. Furthermore, new product development requires upfront investment of resources with uncertainty of return on the investment that provides conditions to trigger a prospect theory based mechanism for EC. Thus, prospect theory is a possible explanation for EC to NPD.

2.4.4 Sunk Cost Effect

While self-justification and framing effects are based on the psychological effects of a negative outcome, the sunk-cost effect is based on the influence of the investment already made to a course of action. Conventional wisdom suggests that one should not account for resources already invested while making a decision. But, the reality is that sunk costs may influence an individual's decision to continue a failing course of action (Arkes and Blumer 1985). Thus, according to this view, individuals might continue an NPD project in the face of negative feedback due to a judgment error by believing that they are saving money or avoiding losses by considering the sunk cost in their calculations. This miscalculation may be due to their misperception of relationship between expenditure and progress on of the NPD project or due to a mental budgeting that want to recoup the past investment (Heath 1995). For example, Schmidt and Calantone (2002) noted that in their EC research, many managers wrote "significant money is already invested in the project" as a reason to continuing a failing NPD project.

2.4.5 Positive Belief Inertia

While the sunk-cost effect suggests judgment error due to prior investment as a cause for EC, the inertia effect due to initial positive belief suggests that the driving force behind escalation behavior is improper use of initial positive beliefs in the face of negative new information. Biyalgorsky et al. (2006) identify and test three general paths for EC.

- Decision involvement inertia suggests that an involvement in the decision for initiating a NPD project in the first place affects the continuation of an NPD project in the face of feedback that it is failing. This path is similar to the self-justification determinant.
- 2) Decision involvement distortion suggests that an involvement in the decision for initiating a NPD project creates inertia for changing positive beliefs about the NPD project in the face of feedback that the NPD project is failing. Thus, NPD managers continue the failing project due to the positive beliefs that should have been updated in the face of the feedback.
- 3) Belief inertia suggests that a positive belief about an NPD project in the first place generates inertia for changing positive beliefs for the NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing. Thus, NPD managers continue the failing project due to the positive beliefs that should have been updated in the face of the feedback.

These authors conduct an experiment in which treatment of a personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome based reward is given to the experiment group subjects. They find that the belief inertia, i.e. improper use of initial positive belief towards a NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing, is the driving force behind EC.

2.4.6 Agency Theory

Harrison and Harrell (Harrison and Harrell 1993) propose agency theory as possible rationale for EC to NPD project and suggest that an NPD manager shirks in a condition of information asymmetry for self-interest and views his behavior as rational when a goal conflict exists between his superior and him. Agency theory (Eisenhardt 1989) suggests a principalagent model in a decision-making situation and postulates that an agent (NPD manager) may exhibit a behavior that maximizes his self-interest at the expense of a principal's (NPD

manager's superiors) interest when it is expensive or impractical for the principal to monitor a behavior of the agent (Eisenhardt 1985). Agency theory as a rationale for EC to NPD is contingent upon the principal's inability to monitor activities of the NPD manager who has some benefits attached to the continuation of the NPD project. Thus the agency theory's applicability for explaining EC is limited to information asymmetry and "side bet" conditions together.

New product development is a complex undertaking in an ambiguous environment. Research suggest that senior executives often spent little time on the NPD projects (Cooper et al. 2002; Davis 2002). Davis (2002) suggests that traditional financial models to evaluate NPD potential are dependent on assumption and risk associated with the project but the models do not give any insight into those assumptions. Thus, it is easy for an NPD manager to hide NPD information. Furthermore, significant rewards are associated with NPD. Hence, agency theory is applicable as a rationale for EC during NPD; however, no research has identified psychological states associated with agency theory based EC.

2.4.7 Attribution Theory

Onifade, Harrison and Cafferty (1997) propose attribution theory as a possible explanation for EC to NPD project. They suggest that an NPD manager continues failing NPD project when cause of the failure is due to external factors or unstable in nature. Attribution theory (ATT) suggests that people develop causal explanations concerning outcomes of their prior behavior using three dimensions of causality: 1) locus of control (cause of performance outcome is internal or external to the person): 2) stability (cause of performance is stable or unstable): and 3) controllability (degree of volitional influence that can be exerted over cause) (Weiner 1986; Weiner 1985). Attribution theory suggests that an individual shifts his expectation of the success or the failure of the NPD project based on causal attributions associated with a

prior outcome of the project. Thus a manager may continue funding an NPD project if the cause of failure is perceived to be unstable (Onifade et al. 1997) or if the locus of control for failure is external (Staw and Ross 1978). For example, managers may pursue an NPD project during an economic decline with a hope that when economy improves, demand for the product will pick up and NPD project will be successful.

In summary, the escalation of commitment research pertains to decision making in a course of action. A review of the extant research suggests that individuals tend to commit to a failing course of action due to many determinants. These determinants can be categorized in to four groups: project determinants, psychological determinants, social determinants and organizational determinants. While project determinants, social determinants and organizational determinants include various antecedents of the EC the psychological determinants include various theoretical mechanisms that have been proposed to explain EC.

Researchers have compared and evaluated these explanations of EC and suggested that SJT has a better fit for explanation of EC (Brockner 1992; Keil et al. 2000; 1995). While there is a convergence of research suggesting SJT as rationale for EC and considerable empirical research, researchers have evaluated EC as a behavior.

CHAPTER III

DEFINITION OF ESCALATION OF COMMITMENT

This chapter presents the commonly adopted definition of EC and posits issues concerning its validity. Subsequently, this chapter reviews the literature on commitment and introduces a definition of EC that is based on psychological commitment.

1. Issues Concerning The Commonly Adopted Definition of EC

EC to an NPD project is defined as the continuation of an NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing (Barton et al. 1989; Schmidt and Calantone 2002). While significant progress is made in enhancing our understanding of EC by adopting this behavioral definition, several issues concerning the construct's validity are important for making legitimate inferences from the construct's operationalization (Trochim 2001).

- First, EC is not defined based on a definition of commitment. A construct has face
 validity if its definition and operationalization seems like a good translation of the
 construct (Trochim 2001). Hence, EC should be a defined accordingly to obtain face
 validity. While the term "escalation of commitment" means increase in intensity or
 magnitude of commitment, the commonly adopted definition of EC, i.e. continuation of a
 NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing, is not a good translation of
 the term escalation of commitment.
- Second, this definition suggests that EC is binary because only continuation or discontinuation of NPD project determines EC. A construct has a good content validity if its definition and operationalization covers relevant content domain for the construct.

Individuals may have a varying magnitude of escalation of commitment to an NPD project despite the project's success or failure. Evaluation of EC only as continuation of a failing NPD project severely limits its content domain to a failing project only and suggests low content validity.

Third, it is difficult to differentiate EC from commitment despite the fact that the definition and/or operationalization of a construct should not be similar to the definition and/or operationalization of other construct to achieve discriminant validity. A list of various definitions of commitment compiled by Meyer and Herscovitch (2001) demonstrates that many researchers define continuation of an NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing as commitment. For example, Scholl (1981) defines commitment to be a stabilizing force that acts to maintain behavioral direction when expectancy or equity conditions are not met and do not function. Similarly, DeShon and Landis (1977) define commitment as unwillingness to abandon or lower the goal when confronted with setbacks and negative feedback. Hence, the current definition of EC has low discriminant validity.

In summary, the commonly adopted definition of EC lacks in face, content as well as discriminant validity and suggest that EC to NPD project must be defined based on commitment to an NPD project.

2. New Product Development and Commitment to NPD Project

Most companies employ a stage-gate decision process in managing NPD (Cooper 1994). In this process, stages involve an execution of various marketing, technical, business and financial analysis activities necessary to solve problems and transform ideas into final products. Information concerning an NPD project's success potential is generated through the execution of

these activities. Gates are points where a go/no-go decision for the NPD project must be made. Conventional wisdom suggests that economic factors should govern NPD project decisions. However, empirical evidence suggests that continuation of an NPD project may also be due to psychological commitments (Balachandra 1984; Boulding et al. 1997; Crawford 1977; Schmidt and Calantone 2002). Our review of the literature on commitment suggests that managers develop commitment to an NPD project through the two distinct processes as shown in Figure 2 (Meyer and Allen 1991; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001).



3 Attitudinal or Prospective Commitment

The attitudinal perspective presumes that prospective rational processes guide the development of a manager's attitudes towards the NPD project that influence the likelihood of continuing an NPD project (Meyer and Allen 1991). This perspective proposes that NPD managers will search for and use information that allows them to rationally assess the success

potential of an NPD project. Thus, it focuses on identifying antecedent conditions, such as characteristics of the NPD project and information generated through execution of various NPD activities that build a manager's commitment to the NPD project (Meyer and Allen 1991; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001). For example Schmidt and Calantone (2002) show that managers escalate commitment to highly innovative NPD projects. Similarly, Harrison and Harrell (1993) suggest that managers continue failing NPD projects under the conditions of adverse selection. Specifically, when information asymmetry prevails between a manager and his superior concerning negative feedback that the NPD project is failing, and personal benefits (e.g. rewards) for the manager are attached to a continuation of the failing NPD project, the manager is more likely to escalate his commitment to the project.

4. Behavioral or Retrospective Commitment

The behavioral perspective adopts a retrospective processes in which an NPD manager's behavior and volition or irreversibility of behavior shapes future behaviors and attitudes (Meyer and Allen 1991; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001; O'Reilly and Caldwell 1981). Behavioral perspective posits that a voluntary behavior, i.e. a behavior that is not justified by extrinsic causes such as pay or coercion, will result in manager's retrospectively interpreting the behavior in more positive intrinsic terms. Hence, such voluntary behavior will increase commitment to an NPD project than behaviors justified by extrinsic causes (O'Reilly and Caldwell 1981). Researchers have shown that when an NPD manager freely chooses a NPD project or when a manager's initiation of an NPD project is irrevocable, he/she may escalate commitment to the project. For example, Schmidt and Calantone (2002) show that managers escalate commitment to an NPD project when they are responsible for initiating NPD projects.

5. Proposed Definition of EC

Even though these behavioral and attitudinal views of commitment are distinct, there is a cyclical relationship between them. Meyer and Allen (1991) suggest that both approaches include secondary relations (broken arrows in Figure 2) which imply that a complementary set of processes may be involved in the commitment-behavior link. For example, when a manager commits to an NPD project prospectively based on evaluation of project information, the choice, associated with the project continuation is likely to change the manager's commitment retrospectively. Similarly, when a manager voluntarily continues an NPD project, the manager's attitudes resulting from the behavior may affect the likelihood of the future continuation of the NPD project. Thus, Meyer and his colleagues incorporate attitudinal and behavioral approaches as well as their complementary relationships and define commitment as a force that binds an individual to a course of action of relevance to one or more targets (in NPD context, target of commitment is NPD project) (Meyer and Allen 1991; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001). Here, the force is the psychological state or mindset, which is a broader concept than attitudes, and reflects the desires, needs and obligations that bind an individual to an NPD project. Use of this definition of commitment as a basis for the definition of EC to NPD is appropriate for the following reasons. First, this definition's content domain includes both attitudinal and behavioral commitment perspectives. Second, a comprehensive review of competing views on dimensions of workplace commitment suggests that despite the use of different labels, considerable research support has been established for the three dimensions (desire, need and obligation) of commitment (Meyer and Herscovitch 2001). Third, research of multiple disciplines converges on the dimensions and conceptualization of commitment (Bansal et al. 2004). Thus, I define escalation of commitment to NPD as an increase in a force that binds a

manager to the course of NPD project. According to this definition, EC is a derived construct of commitment and thus inherits three components of commitment: affective commitment, normative commitment and continuance commitment as described below (Meyer and Allen 1997; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001).

- Affective Commitment is a force based on an individual's emotional attachment to, identification with, and involvement in the NPD project. For example, an individual may commit to an NPD project because he/she is interested in or likes the project or finds it enjoyable. Thus, a manager who has affective commitment to an NPD project would continue the project because he/she "wants" to do so.
- Normative Commitment is a force based on obligations or norms to continue an NPD project. For example, an individual may continue an NPD project because an organization's culture suggests that he/she is expected to continue working on it until the project is a success. Thus, a manager with high normative commitment to NPD project would continue the project because he "ought" to do so.
- Continuance Commitment is a force due to awareness of a cost or "loss of side bets" associated with not continuing NPD project. For example, an individual may continue an NPD project if significant resources are invested in the project, or reward is tied to a launch of the project. Thus, a manager with high continuance commitment continues an NPD project because he "needs" to do so.

While all three components represent commitment as a psychological mindset, each represents a distinct construct with diverse set of antecedents as well as behavioral implications (Meyer and Allen 1997; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001). Thus, an increase in any component constitutes an escalation of commitment that may manifest as continuation of the NPD project.
For example, in the condition of adverse selection (Harrison and Harrell 1993), as described earlier, managers may escalate only the continuance commitment. Such escalation of a continuance commitment may be a cause of a continuation of an NPD project even when the managers' normative commitment and affective commitment do not differ from commitments of managers who do not face adverse selection condition.

CHAPTER IV

HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

This chapter describes the self-justification theory posits hypotheses for the main effects of personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome based rewards associated with the NPD project in terms of commitments and felt responsibility towards the NPD project. Subsequently, this chapter presents hypotheses for the effects of interaction between personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome based rewards associated with the project in terms of the commitments and felt responsibility. Finally, the effect of the interaction on manager's self-justification and intention to continue the NPD project in the face of a negative feedback is hypothesized.

1. Self Justification Theory

In his seminal paper on EC, Staw (1976) observes that a greater proportion of managers exhibit intention to continue a failing NPD project when they were personally responsible for initiating the project. He employs a behavioral commitment view and cognitive dissonance theory (Festinger 1957) to propose that a manager, who is personally responsible for initiating a failing NPD project, will subsequently fund and continue the NPD project for self-justification reasons. Many empirical studies have confirmed that personal responsibility for initiating a NPD project is an antecedent to EC.

How does a manager's personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project affect his/her subsequent attitudes and behavior regarding post failure decision for the NPD project despite a possible long time gap between the project initiation and post NPD failure decisions? O'Reilly

and Caldwell (1981) note that effects of a behavior on future attitudes and behavior is contingent upon characteristics of the preceding behavior. They suggest that not all behaviors are equally committing and the degree of commitment or binding of subsequent attitudes and behavior depends on felt responsibility. The felt responsibility is an outcome of the transformation process internal to an NPD manager who mediates the effects of personal responsibility to initiate the NPD project on future attitudes and behavior (Baron and Kenny 1986). In summary, the causal mechanism of the self-justification theory suggests that a personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project induces felt responsibility on the part of the NPD manager; hence, the subsequent availability of information suggesting the likely failure of an NPD project will trigger a selfjustification process which escalates the NPD manager's commitment to continue the NPD project.

Researchers experimentally demonstrate and agree that Self Justification Theory (SJT) is a possible rationale for EC to NPD (Brockner 1992; Schmidt and Calantone 2002; Staw 1997). According to Brockner (1992), three distinct research approaches have yielded results supportive of the SJT based explanation for EC. The first approach shows that EC is higher when an NPD manager experiences a high need to justify his earlier decision. The second approach shows that an NPD manager who escalates commitment by continuing a failing NPD project is more likely to endorse self justification such as, "Once I had already invested a certain amount, I had to keep going" (Strube and Lott 1984). The third approach shows that pre-existing conditions of self justification also influence the information that individuals seek as well as the information that they present to others (Caldwell and O'Reilly 1982; Conlon and Parks 1987). Despite the convergence of evidence suggesting SJT as a rationale for EC, these studies have not identified which components of commitment are associated with the escalation behavior. Furthermore,

these studies have not evaluated the effects of rewards on the EC when a manager is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. Finally, these studies have not evaluated if commitment components are escalated at NPD outset or after NPD failure. This information will enhance our understanding of the EC phenomena and show us the process that drives manager's attitudes and behaviors. In turn the information will guide us for assigning responsibility and rewards to NPD managers by providing us insight of the managers' mindsets and enable us to control the escalation process.

2. Effects of PRI on Commitment Components at NPD Outset

Personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project exists when a manager freely chooses to initiate an NPD project and justifies (i.e. giving reasons to self or others) the selection of the project (Bobocel and Meyer 1994). What effects does personal responsibility have on each component of manager's psychological commitment? According to a behavioral commitment view, an individual's freedom of choice in selecting a task is causally related to an individual's subsequent attitude towards the chosen task. Meyer and Allen (1991) suggest that decentralization, autonomy, participative decision making and volition are antecedents of free choice and affective commitment. Furthermore, Calder et al. (1973) observed that an individual who freely chooses to perform a task will rate it to be more enjoyable than will an individual who does not chooses to perform a task. Thus, personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project elevates enjoyment as an aspect of affective commitment.

Personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project may also escalate normative commitment. First, SJT suggests that an individual may continue a failing course of action because he wants to justify that his previous actions were correct. This justification is similar to an obligation to continue (i.e., I believed in it so I will prove it) or a normative component of the

commitment. Second, a manager is required to provide a rationale for his/her action for justifying an NPD project. According to the role theory the justification generates normative expectations for the self and a belief that others also have expectations for a success of the NPD proejct (Biddle 1979; Katz and Kahn 1978).

Finally, personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project may also elevate continuance commitment. Crawford (1977) suggests that people put their job and reputation at stake when they commit to a project. Similarly, Bart (1988) suggests that individuals put their personal career and potential for rewards at risk when they sponsor a project. Hence,

H1: Compared to managers who are organizationally assigned a NPD project, managers who are personally responsible for initiating the NPD project will exhibit higher level a) of affective commitment, b) normative commitment, c) continuance commitment and d) felt responsibility at the NPD outset.

3. Effects of Rewards on Commitment Components at NPD Outset

Organizations use rewards as a mechanism for eliciting desired behavior (Eisenhardt 1985). Specifically, organizations commonly tie outcome-based rewards with a successful completion of an NPD project defined in terms of objective performance levels. As defined earlier, continuance commitment is a force due to awareness of a cost or "loss of side bets" associated with not continuing an NPD project. Here side bets are the actions that link a person to a particular course of action by virtue of the fact that something the person value would be forfeited if he/she discontinues the course (Meyer and Allen 1991; Meyer and Herscovitch 2001). Because rewards tied to a performance of an NPD project are given if the project is successful, such rewards are a side bet for NPD managers. Thus, rewards will escalate continuance commitment.

Meyer and Allen (1991) suggest that affective commitment develops on the basis of psychologically rewarding experiences that satisfy an individual's needs and allows them to achieve their goals. Rewards tied with the success of an NPD project typically are determined to fulfill financial or other needs of a manager. Thus, as O'Driscoll and Randall (1999) observed, rewards will escalate affective commitment.

Wiener (1982) argues that normative commitment develops based on the collection of pressures an individual feels through a complex process that involves conditioning (rewards and punishment) as well as other factors. Through these pressures an individual learns what is valued in an organization and what is expected of them. When rewards are associated with success of an NPD project, the rewards suggest that managers are expected to make NPD successful. Expectations are basis for normative commitment (Biddle 1979; Katz and Kahn 1978). Furthermore, when managers internalize the expectations, the expectations induce felt responsibility. Hence,

H2: Compared to managers who will not to be rewarded for success of an assigned NPD project, managers who will be rewarded for success of an assigned NPD project will have a higher level of a) affective commitment, b) normative commitment, c) continuance commitment and d) higher felt responsibility at an NPD outset.

4. Effects of Interaction Between Personal Responsibility and Rewards on Commitment Components

The extant research involving personal responsibility and reward suggests that the interaction between these two constructs may have a significant effect on a person's attitude that varies depending on the circumstances (Calder et al. 1973; Freedman et al. 1992). Freedman et al. (1992) note that when personal responsibility is high, ordinarily a larger reward produces a

greater effect on attitudes than a smaller reward. However, in some situations the opposite effect occurs. Hence, they label the phenomena as the Reverse Incentive Effect. Calder et al. (1973) suggest that the effects of interaction between rewards and personal responsibility are moderated by consequences of the behavior. For example, if the rewarded behavior is to give charity to self-selected needy people, the larger reward for giving the charity produces a greater effect on the attitudes. However, if the rewarded behavior is to lie to fellow classmates for suggesting that they participate in a boring activity, then the opposite effect occurs in that smaller rewards produce a greater effect on the attitudes. Hence, Scher and Cooper (1989) posit that aversion to, or undesirability of, the consequence of behavior determines direction of the effect of personal responsibility and rewards interaction. Specifically, aversive consequences of behavior will produce an inverse effect of the reward and personal responsibility interaction while nonaversive consequences will produce a direct effect of the interaction. At the outset of an NPD project, where the behavior is initiating NPD project, there are no aversive consequences of the behavior. Thus, reward and personal responsibility should produce direct interaction effect at the outset of an NPD project. While there may be no aversive consequences for initiating an NPD project, there are aversive consequences for discontinuing an NPD project. Hence, as suggested by the reverse incentive effect, reward should moderate the effect of personal responsibility in the inverse direction. Which component(s) of commitment will be affected by the interactions? O'Reilly and Caldwell (1981) suggest that rewards and personal responsibility interaction reduce felt responsibility. When a manger feels less responsibility for the success of an NPD project, he /she should feel fewer expectations from him/her for the success of the project. The belief about fewer expectations lowers his/her normative commitment. Similarly when reduction in felt responsibility should reduce a manager's perception of their job, career and reputation at stake

which are basis for continuation commitment as suggested by Crawford (1977) and Bart (1988). Hence, reverse-incentive effect will have direct effects on affective commitment only. Thus, rewards will moderate effects of personal responsibility on felt responsibility and commitment components. Specifically,

- H3: Compared to managers who will not to be rewarded for a success of a self initiated NPD project, managers who will be rewarded for a success of the self initiated NPD project will have a) higher affective commitment, b) lower normative commitment, c) lower continuance commitment and d) lower felt responsibility at an outset of a NPD project.
- H4: Compared to managers who will not to be rewarded for a success of a self initiated NPD project, managers, who are to be rewarded for success of the self initiated NPD project, will have a) lower affective commitment, b) lower normative commitment, c) lower continuance commitment and d) lower felt responsibility at an NPD failure.

5. Self Justification and Intention to Continue Failing NPD Project

Staw (1976) observes that an NPD manager continues a failing NPD project when he is personally responsible for initiating the project. He evaluates alternate explanations such as maximization of gain, consistency of choice and self-perception theory for analyzing results of his experiment. He suggests that only self-justification explains higher intentions to continue a failing course of action when an individual is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. As delineated earlier, the causal mechanism of the self justification theory posits that the personal responsibility to initiate NPD project induces felt responsibility and subsequent NPD project failure triggers a self justification process which mediates effects of felt responsibility on the mindsets of the NPD manager. As suggested in H3 and H4, reward reduces felt responsibility of a manger personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. The reduction of felt

responsibility reduces self-justification, which in turn reduces manager's willingness to continue failing NPD project. Thus,

H5: Compared to managers who will not to be rewarded for success of a self initiated NPD project, managers who will be rewarded for a success of the self initiated NPD project will have a) lower self justification and b) lower intention to continue the project at NPD failure.

CHAPTER V

RESEARCH DESIGN

This chapter details the experimental method adopted to test the hypotheses. The chapter presents a general overview of the experiment and describes experimental treatments. Finally, the chapter shows a description of a pretest and lists sample characteristics.

1. Overview of the Experiment

To test the hypotheses, I conducted a 2 x 2 role-playing experiment with personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and rewards associated with a success of the NPD project as the independent variables. Role-playing experimentation is commonly employed for EC and NPD research to control for internal validity in testing causation hypotheses. Furthermore, Schmidt and Calantone (2002) argue that it is extremely difficult to conduct EC research in the field.

The experiment required participants to assume a role of an NPD manager in a hypothetical company. Subsequently the participants were asked to report their felt responsibility and psychological mindsets at an NPD outset and after a review of feedback suggesting a failure of the NPD project. The participants were also asked to report their continuation intention and justification for the intention after a review of feedback suggesting a failure of the NPD project. The each participant was asked to read and follow instructions from a booklet to implement the role-playing. The booklet included brief information about the company, a description of the participant's NPD manager role within the company and a scenario outcome simulating a NPD failure context. In addition to the background information, the company description stated that

the company's senior management required objective performance criteria of 25% market share and 12% profitability for a new project. This company information was constant across all experimental conditions. However, the description of an NPD manager's role was purposefully varied among the booklets in order to systematically manipulate personal responsibility for initiating an NPD project (personally selected and justified or corporately assigned) and rewards associated with the success of the NPD project (rewards or no rewards).

2. Experimental Treatments

The experimental treatment of personal responsibility to initiate the NPD project was achieved using the free choice method originally employed by Staw (1976). Participants were asked to review the descriptions of two NPD ideas shown in Figure 3. The participants were asked to select one of the NPD project for implementation. They were informed that the company does not have sufficient resources to fund both NPD projects. Hence, in this high personal responsibility condition, the participants were able to personally select one of the two NPD ideas for a development. After they made a selection, the participants were asked to justify their choice of a project by writing their selection reason as suggested by Bobocel and Meyer (1994).

The low level of a personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project was achieved by assigning a project to all participants of this experimental group. These participants were informed that their predecessor, who is no longer with a company, initiated the assigned project. Furthermore, these participants were not asked to justify the project. While participants in the high personal responsibility situation had to choose one of the two NPD ideas, only one of these

NPD ideas, shown in Figure 4, was assigned to all the participants of the low personal

responsibility group to efficiently use experiment participants³.

Currently, two new product development ideas are being considered for development at TCC. Since company resources are limited, it is your responsibility to select and work on one of these two projects for product development.

Based on the description of these projects which of the following ideas will you choose for development? (*Please read project descriptions below and select a project*)

<u>Project 1:</u> This project involves a small upgrade of the software so that instead of four fixed time slots for temperature, it will be possible to have 6 fixed time slots for temperature. Thus, even though the change in technology is marginal, it enables homeowners to maintain the temperature of the house at fixed time slots of 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 12:00 pm, 5:00 pm, 7:00 pm and 10:00 pm automatically.

<u>Project 2:</u> This project requires minor enhancement of software so that the homeowners can program time slots (instead of fixed time slots of 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 5:00 pm, and 10:00 pm) as well as the temperature they wish to maintain. Thus, even though the change in technology is marginal, it enables homeowners to maintain the temperature of the house at four adjustable time slots automatically.

Figure 3: High Personal Responsibility Manipulation

Recently, you are assigned a project for new product development. Your predecessor chose this project for development and resigned after the project was initiated.

<u>The Chosen Project:</u> This project requires minor enhancement of software so that the homeowners can program time slots (instead of fixed time slots of 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 5:00 pm, and 10:00 pm) as well as the temperature they wish to maintain. Thus, even though the change in technology is marginal, it enables homeowners to maintain the temperature of the house at four adjustable time slots automatically.

Figure 4: Low Personal Responsibility Manipulation

³ Since only one of the two projects was assigned to all the participants in a low personal responsibility group, data from those participants' in high personal responsibility to initiate NPD project group who selected a project that was not assigned to low personal responsibility group were discarded.

The experimental treatments for the high level of rewards associated with an NPD success was achieved by informing all participants that they will receive a significant bonus and senior management may promote them if the NPD project is a success (see Figure 5). In the low reward condition, no information about rewards was mentioned to participants. After the administration of treatments, each participant's commitment to the NPD project and a felt responsibility for the NPD project were measured using scales described in the measurement section.

A bonus of \$150,000 will be given to you if the project you worked on is successful in the market. Furthermore, TCC executive team may promote you if the developed product is a success in the market.

Figure 5: High Rewards Manipulation

Subsequently, to simulate the potential failure of the NPD project, each participant was provided an updated description detailing the NPD project's expected performance (see Figure 6). The NPD performance report projected its likely profit at \$175,000 per year and estimated the investment required to complete the NPD project to be \$3.6 million. Finally, the report noted an expected market share of 18% with 7% profitability; compared to the initial hurdle rate of 25% market share and 12% profitability established by senior management.

All participants were given identical information. Care was taken to "frame" this information in a neutral tone to avoid any bias (Kahneman and Tversky 1979). Furthermore, no sunk-cost information was given to avoid bias.

At the end of a development stage, project report indicates that the R&D has tested the technical modifications and has given a green signal. The production department has projected the cost of this project to be \$3.6 million (net present value). Furthermore, marketing research estimates profits of approximately \$175,000 per year from18% market share and 7% profitability for this product.

Figure 6: NPD Performance Information Used to Stimulate Project Failure

After a review of this NPD failure data, each participant's commitment to the NPD project, felt responsibility for the NPD project and intention to continue the NPD project was measured. Subsequently, participants' self-justification was measured after obtaining the go/no-go decision. Finally participants' responses to manipulation checks were obtained.

3. Details of a Pilot Test

The experiment was designed based on previously employed designs. A pilot test was conducted using 38 undergraduate students to ensure that manipulations were effectively achieved. Specifically, experimental treatments were randomly assigned to subjects and their input on manipulation checks was obtained. Furthermore, subjects were asked to review scales used in the instrument and identify any confusing terms. While the results indicated effectiveness of the manipulations, a few items were revised and experimental descriptions were refined.

4. Sample Characteristics

The participants were recruited from executive MBA, evening MBA and MBA programs of a large southeastern university. These subjects were selected for the following reasons. First, Biyalgorsky et al. (2006) conducted a test and empirically verified that responses of executive MBA and MBA students do not differ in a research on EC involving a role playing experiment. Hence, based on the results of their analysis these authors suggest that results of research on EC involving MBA students can be appropriately generalized to the population of senior-level

managers. Second, due to the decentralization of decision-making in organizations, attitudes and behavior of managers from all levels influence NPD go/no-go decisions. These attitudes and behaviors are affected by responsibility for an NPD project and rewards associated with a success of an NPD project. Finally, recruitment of MBA students is a common practice for a research on EC (Biyalgorsky et al. 2006; Staw 1976).

For participants' convenience, the experiment was conducted just before their class was commenced. Participants were informed about the anonymity of their input and were requested to give input as if they were working in an actual company. Furthermore, they were requested to consult privately with the research administrator to ask any questions, and they were instructed not to converse with other participants during the data collection. The participants spent approximately 30 minutes to complete a booklet. The participants highlighted facts presented in the booklet. They wrote calculations in the margins of the booklets. Furthermore, they did not interact with each other as instructed till the data collection was complete. These facts suggest that the participants were involved in their role-play.

The realized sample included 134 responses. Approximately equal numbers of participants were recruited from the three MBA programs. All participants had successfully completed at lease one full semester of course work that included managerial decision-making. The sample was approximately 66 percent male. The participants had approximately 9 years of experience. As a token of appreciation, all participants received a gift worth approximately \$5.

CHAPTER VI

MEASURMENT OF VARIABLES

This chapter describes the measures adopted in the study and presents the observed reliability. The study adopts existing scales to measure the following variables: felt responsibility, commitment components, go/no-go decision and self-justification. The detail of each variable is as follow.

1. Felt Responsibility

Felt responsibility is an individual's belief about his/her role for making an NPD project successful. As suggested earlier, interaction between a personal responsibilities to initiate an NPD project and outcome-based rewards affects felt responsibility at an outset of an NPD project as well as after NPD failure. Hence, repeated measures of participants' felt responsibility were collected. The felt responsibility of a low personal responsibility treatment group was measured after a project was allocated to the participants. The felt responsibility of a high personal responsibility treatment group was measured after a choice of one of the two NPD projects was made and justified. A second measure of a felt responsibility of both groups was obtained after the NPD failure data were reviewed. A scale developed by Morrison and Phelps (1999) was used to measure felt responsibility. The five scale items are shown in Table 1. The observed reliability, i.e. Cronbach's alpha, of items is 0.75, which is above the acceptable standard set by Nunnally (1978) and similar to the reliability of 0.80 observed by Morrison and Phelps (1999).

2. Three Components of Commitment

The three components of commitment to NPD were measured using items developed by Meyer and Allen (1991). Since these items may represent commitment to any entity (e.g.

organization, work group, project, manager) of a workplace (Meyer and Herscovitch 2001), the items

Table 1: Items Used to Measure Felt Responsibility
1. I would feel a personal sense of responsibility for the success of the chosen
project.
2. It would be up to me to make the chosen project successful.
3. I would take responsibility to introduce new procedures where appropriate for the
success of the chosen project.
4. It would not be my responsibility to correct problem related to the chosen project.
5 I more that the second shall and a status and all the data the shares we had

5. I would not change or challenge status quo related to the chosen project.

were adapted to the NPD context as shown in Table 2. These measures of commitment were collected after felt responsibility was measured at the NPD outset and after the updated NPD failure context was presented. Affective commitment was measured using a six item scale developed by Meyer and Allen (1991). The Cronbach's alpha of the resulting scale is 0.82. Normative commitment was measured using five of the six items of a revised scale developed by Meyer and Allen (1991). The item "I would not move to other project right now because I have a sense of obligation to the people in it" was not employed because the experiment was directed at the individual NPD manager rather than a team. The calculated Cronbach's alpha of the normative commitment scale is 0.76. Similarly, continuance commitment was measured using a five of the six items from the scale developed by Meyer and Allen (1991). One item "I so much were not at a stake with chosen project, I would consider discounting it" was removed due to low reliability⁴. The Cronbach's alpha of the remaining five continuance commitment items is 0.73. The observed reliabilities of the commitment scales are acceptable (Nunnally 1978).

⁴ The observed reliability of six items scale of continuance commitment is 0.65 and below recommended standard set by Nunnally (1978). Hence, the item was discarded even though data analysis, which included this item in the continuance commitment scale showed that the results are statistically significant and essentially the same as reported with minor differences in numbers.

Furthermore, these reliabilities are within range of reliabilities of these scales reported by Fields

(2002) based on his review of the extant research involving these scales.

	Table 2: Items Used To Measure Commitment Components
Affect	ive Commitment
1.	I would be very happy to spend my work time on chosen project.
	I would not feel "emotionally attached" to chosen project.
3.	I would feel that chosen project's problems are my own.
4.	I would not feel a strong sense of belonging to chosen project.
5.	I would not feel that chosen project is my own project.
6.	The chosen project would have great deal of personal meaning for me.
Norma	ative Commitment
1.	I would not feel obliged to continue the chosen project.
2.	I would feel guilty if I discontinue chosen project.
3.	Even if it were to my advantage, I would not feel it would be right to discontinue chosen project.
4.	The chosen project would deserve my loyalty.
	I owe a great deal to work on chosen project.
	uance Commitment
1.	Staying with chosen project would be a matter of necessity as much as desire.
2.	I believe that I have too few options to discontinue chosen project.
3.	It would be hard for me to discontinue chosen project, even if I wanted to.
4.	One of the few negative consequences of discontinuing chosen project would be the scarcity of similar opportunity.
5.	Moving to other project would require considerable personal sacrifice; another project may not offer the overall benefits I would get from chosen project.
6.	If so much were not at a stake with chosen project, I would consider discontinuin it (Item discarded for the data analysis)

3. Go/No Go decision

After the three components of commitment were measured, participants in each treatment

group were asked to assess their likelihood to make a go/no-go decision using a 9 point scale

"How likely you are to continue the project and launch the product in the market?" anchored by

"Not at all likely" and "Extremely likely".

4. Indicators Suggesting Self Justification Process for Each Participant

Subsequent to the go/no-go decision, participant's self-justification for the decision was measured using a three-item scale shown in Table 3. Items for a scale developed by Daley and Geyer (1994) to measure justification were adapted to fit the context of the NPD go/no-go decision. The Cronbach's alpha of the resulting scale is 0.68, which is close to the reliability of 0.77 observed by Daley and Geyer (1994).

Table 3: Items Used to Measure Self-Justification

- 1. I have strong reasons for continuing the project.
- 2. The project description provides sufficient information suggesting potential success of the project.
- 3. There is little negative information pertaining to the project.

CHAPTER VII

DATA ANALYSIS

This chapter reports the results of the experiment. The chapter describes a multi-stage approach adopted for the data analysis. Then the chapter presents a data analysis for each stage.

1. General Approach for the Data Analysis

A multi-stage approach was employed for the data analyses of the experiment. First eligibility for the use of three sub-samples of students was verified. Subsequently, efficacy of the experiment treatments was verified. Then MANOVA and ANOVA were conducted to test hypotheses and to investigate effects that were not hypothesized.

2. Verification of No Differences Among Sub-samples

The first step in a data analysis was to determine whether three subject sub-samples differ in their continuation intentions for the failing NPD project. An analysis of variance model with MBA type (MBA, Evening MBA or Executive MBA) as the independent variable and continuation intention as a dependent variable was computed. The overall F for this model was not significant (F=0.69, p=0.50). These results suggest that an intention to continue a failing NPD project did not differ among MBA, Executive MBA and Evening MBA students. These results are similar to the results noted by Biyalgorsky et al. (2006). Hence, subsequent analyses aggregated the data across the three student groups.

2. Results of Manipulation Checks

Next, the efficacy of the experimental treatments was verified by analyzing the manipulations checks. Two 7-point scales were used to evaluate the efficacy of the personal

responsibility to initiate NPD project manipulation. The mean for the scale "I selected the new product development project to work on" was significantly higher for the high personal responsibility to initiate NPD project treatment group than the mean for the treatment group that was organizationally assigned the NPD project (mean for high personal responsibility = 5.41; mean for low personal responsibility = 3.90; F = 20.88, p < .0001). Mean for the scale "My predecessor selected the new product development project to work on" was significantly lower for the high personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project treatment groups than the mean for the treatment groups that were organizationally assigned the NPD project (mean for high personal responsibility = 3.45, mean for low personal responsibility = 5.30, F = 43.81, p < .0001). These differences are in the expected direction and suggest that the experimental treatments for the personal responsibility to initiate NPD project were effectively achieved.

Similarly, two 7-point scales were used to evaluate the effectiveness of alternate manipulations for rewards associated with success of an NPD project. The mean for the scale "Significant rewards were explicitly tied to the success of the chosen project" was significantly higher for the rewards treatment groups than the mean for the no reward treatment groups (mean for high reward group = 5.6; mean for low reward group = 4.00; F = 50.06; (p < .0001)). The mean for the scale "No financial rewards were explicitly tied with the success of the project" was significantly lower for the rewards treatment groups than the mean for the no reward treatment groups (mean for high reward group = 2.66, mean for low reward group = 4.29, F = 38.62, (p < .0001)). These differences are in the expected directions and indicate that the experimental treatments for rewards associated with an NPD project success were effectively achieved during the experiment.

3. Results of MANOVA and ANOVA

Double multivariate repeated analysis of variance (DMANOVA) was employed to determine if any treatment has a significant effect on at least one dependent variable measured at the NPD outset and post failure (affective commitment, normative commitment, continuance commitment and felt responsibility). Furthermore, multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was employed to determine if any treatment has a significant effect on at least one dependent variable measured at the NPD outset and post failure (affective commitment, normative commitment, continuance commitment and felt responsibility) and self justification and intention to continue NPD project measured at post failure. The models examine the main effects of personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and rewards associated with success of an NPD project, as well as their interaction term as independent variables. The results indicate a significant difference of the means (p < .0001 based on Wilk's lambda for both models). Hence, for each dependent variable, a separate ANOVA model was computed using the same three predictors to identify significant differences among treatment groups.

The definition of escalation of commitment proposed earlier implies 1) a higher level of commitment evaluated cross sectionally due to an effect of the respective treatment (e.g. greater affective commitment between NPD managers who are given a responsibility to initiate a project versus having the NPD project assigned); 2) an inter-temporal increase in a commitment component at an NPD failure within a treatment group (i.e. an increase of the affective commitment at NPD failure relative to the level of affective commitment at an NPD outset for high personal responsibility group) suggests EC. Hence a sample mean for each treatment group was calculated for each dependent variable. Moreover, significance of a between subjects difference of means for each treatment group pair at an NPD outset as well as at an NPD failure

was tested using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test (alpha 5%). The means and significance of the model as well as each predictor are reported in Table 4 and shown in Figure 7 and Figure 8. These results are discussed in depth next.





Table 4: Cross-Sectional Pre Failure and Post Failure Mean Ratings of Dependent Variables Per Treatment Groups and Significance of Predictors										
(ANOVA Model: DV = PR RWD PR*RWD)										
	Felt		Affective		Normative		Continuance			
	Responsibility		Commitment		Commitment		Commitment		Post Failure	Post Failure
	NPD	Post	NPD	Post	NPD	NPD	NPD	NPD	Self	Continuation
	Outset	Failure	Outset	Failure	Outset	Failure	Outset	Failure	Justification	Intentions
Treatment Groups										
Control (CTRL)	5.54	5.72	4.50	4.86	4.31	4.66	4.05	4.25	4.36	6.21
Reward (RWD)	5.90	5.83	5.22	5.37	5.13	5.17	4.93	4.90	5.05	7.24
Persn. Resp. (PR)	5.46	5.46	4.89	5.19	4.74	5.03	4.38	4.56	4.78	6.88
PR * RWD	5.93	5.47	5.28	4.76	4.80	4.53	4.36	4.00	4.13	5.67
Significance										
Model F statistic	3.2600	1.91	7.57	3.68	5.36	3.53	7.54	4.92	4.28	4.01
Model p-value	0.024	NS	0.000	0.014	0.002	0.017	0.000	0.003	0.006	0.009
RWD p-value	0.002	NS	<.0001	NS	0.003	NS	0.002	NS	NS	NS
PR p-value	NS	0.023	0.086	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.093	NS	NS
PR*RWD p-value	NS	NS	NS	0.002	0.011	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002

Hypothesis 1 predicts that managers who are responsible for initiating an NPD project should escalate affective commitment (H1a), normative commitment (H1b) and continuance commitment (H1c), as well as felt responsibility (H1d) at the outset of a project. Between subjects differences of felt responsibility and commitment components at an NPD outset between managers responsible for initiating an NPD project (personal responsibility group) and manager assigned the NPD project (control group) were calculated to test these hypotheses. These differences are reported in Table 5. The differences show that managers escalate affective commitment and normative comment due to personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project. However, no statistically significant difference in felt responsibility and continuance commitment was observed at an NPD outset. Hence, Hypothesis 1 is partially supported for affective and normative commitments.

Similarly, Hypothesis 2 predicts that managers, who are rewarded based on performance of an assigned NPD project, should have higher levels of affective commitment (H2a), normative commitment (H2b) and continuance commitment (H2C) as well as felt responsibility (H2d) at the outset of the project. Between subject differences of felt responsibility and the commitment types between managers who were assigned a NPD project with (reward group) or without (control group) an outcome-based rewards were calculated to test these hypotheses. These differences are reported in Table 6. The differences show that in presence of outcome-based rewards, managers' escalate felt responsibility and each of the three commitment components at an NPD outset. Hence, the results support Hypothesis 2.

Table 5: Effect of Personal Responsibility on EC at NPD Outset				
Cross-sectional pre-failure difference of mean between managers				
responsible for initiating an NPD proejct and managers				
organizationally assigned the project at NPD outset.				
Dependent Variable Difference of Mean*				
Felt Responsibility	-0.08			
Affective Commitment	0.39			
Normative Commitment	0.43			
Continuance Commitment	0.33			
* the difference shown in bold is significant based on LSD at 95%				

Table 6: Effect of Rewards on EC at NPD Outset			
Cross sectional pre-failure dif	fference of mean between		
managers of assigned project with or without outcome-			
based reward at the outset			
Dependent Variable	Difference of Mean*		
Felt Responsibility	0.36		
Affective Commitment	0.72		
Normative Commitment	0.82		
Continuance Commitment	0.88		
* the difference shown in bol- LSD at 95%	d is significant based on		

Hypothesis 3 predicts that, at the outset of an NPD project, rewards would have a positive effect on an affective commitment (H3a), and a negative effect on normative commitment (H3b), continuance commitment (H3c) as well as felt responsibility (H3d) of NPD managers who are

personally responsible for initiating the project. Difference of mean felt responsibility and the commitment types at the NPD outset between managers responsible for initiating an NPD project with (high personal responsibility and reward group) or without reward (high personal responsibility group) was calculated o test these hypotheses. The differences and their significance are shown in Table 7. Hypothesis 3 is partially supported.

Specifically, the affective commitment of managers, responsible for initiating an NPD project, is greater when the managers will be rewarded for the success of an NPD project. The difference is significant and supports H3a. However, the differences of means for normative commitment, continuance commitment and felt responsibility do not support hypotheses H3b, H3c and H3d respectively. The result shows that the felt responsibility of managers who will be rewarded for a success of a self-initiated project is significantly higher instead of significantly lower as hypothesized. Furthermore, the results show no statistically significant difference in levels of normative commitment and continuance commitment of these managers.

Table 7: Effect of Personal Responsibility*Reward Interaction on EC at NPD Outset					
Cross sectional pre failure difference of mean between rewarded and non-rewarded managers					
responsible for initiating an NPD project at the	NPD outset.				
Dependent Variable	Difference of Mean*				
Felt Responsibility	0.47**				
Affective Commitment	0.39				
Normative Commitment	0.09				

-0.02

* The difference shown in bold is significant based on LSD at 95%.

Continuance Commitment

** While the difference of mean for felt responsibility is significant, it is positive instead of negative as hypothesized.

In summary, these results suggest that only affective commitment is escalated while

normative commitment and continuance commitment has no significant change when a manager,

who is responsible for initiating a NPD project, is rewarded for a success of the NPD project. Contrary to O'Reilly and Caldwell's (1981) suggestion that rewards reduce felt responsibility of managers who initiate an NPD project, the managers have higher felt responsibility when they are to be rewarded for the success of the initiated NPD project.

The results of the experiment support Hypotheses 4, which predicts that affective commitment (H4a), normative commitment (H4b), continuance commitment (H4c) and felt responsibility (H4d) to an NPD project will be lower in a manager who initiated a failing NPD project will be rewarded for the success of a project. To test these hypotheses, difference of post NPD failure mean rating of respective variables between rewarded and non-rewarded managers responsible for initiating a NPD project were analyzed. As shown in Table 8, the mean ratings of post-failure affective commitment, normative commitment, continuance commitment and felt responsibility of managers, who initiated a NPD project, are significantly lower when managers will be rewarded for the success of an NPD project. Hence, Hypothesis 4 is supported.

Cross sectional post failure difference of mean between rewarded and non-rewarded managers responsible for initiating an NPD project.			
Dependent Variable	Difference of Mean*		
Felt Responsibility	0.01		
Affective Commitment	-0.43		
Normative Commitment	-0.50		
Continuance Commitment	-0.56		
Self Justification	-0.65		
Continuation Intentions	-1.21		

Finally, the results of this experiment support Hypotheses 5 which predicts that selfjustification and an intention to continue a failing NPD project will be lower when a manager, who is personally responsible for initiating a failing NPD project, will be rewarded for the project's success. The mean self-justification level for rewarded managers, who initiated an NPD project, is 4.13, and the mean self-justification level of non-rewarded managers, who initiated an NPD project is, 4.78. The difference, -.065, is statistically significant at alpha .05. Similarly, as shown in Table 8, managers, who initiated a failing NPD project, have a lower intention to continue the project when they will be rewarded for the success of a project. This difference is statistically significant.

Additional data analysis was conducted even though explicit hypotheses were not stated. The behavioral commitment view and self-justification theory based rationale for EC suggests an inertia effect of personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project. These rationales posit that when managers self justify and continue a failing NPD project, their commitment will not decrease. This claim is counter intuitive to a normative decision making that suggests a de-escalation⁵ of commitments and a discontinuation of a failing NPD project. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was employed to determine if any treatment has a significant effect on within subject difference with at least one dependent variable measured (affective commitment, normative commitment, continuance commitment and felt responsibility). The model examine the main effects of personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and rewards associated with the success of an NPD project, as well as their interaction term as independent variables. The results indicate a significant change within subject (p < .0001 based on Wilk's lambda for both models). Hence, inter temporal difference of commitment components within subject was evaluated for statistical significance. Interestingly, the results of this research suggest that instead of managers' commitment remaining the same, managers escalate commitment to a self-initiated NPD project that is failing. As shown in Figure 9, managers, responsible for initiating a NPD project, exhibited a statistically significant increase in mean levels of affective and normative

⁵ De-escalation of commitment is decrease in a force that binds managers to NPD project.

commitments after the failure of an NPD project. However, these managers showed significant decrease in affective commitment and continuous commitment when rewards were associated with a success of an NPD project. A similar analysis was conducted for managers who were assigned an NPD project. Interestingly, these managers also showed a statistically significant increase in affective commitment and marginally significant increase in normative commitment as shown in Figure 9. However, no significant change in affective, normative and continuance commitment between an NPD outset and post NPD failure was observed when these managers would be rewarded for the success of an NPD project.



CHAPTER VIII

DISCUSSION

This chapter discusses major findings from the research and provides a summary of the major findings.

1. Outline of the Research

This study posits three major issues against the current conceptualization of an EC, i.e. continuation of an NPD project in the face of feedback that the project is failing. First, EC is not defined based on commitment; second, EC's content domain is limited to failing projects; and third, EC could not be differentiated from commitment. In summary, the study shows that the current conceptualization of EC lacks discriminant, content and face validity. Hence, the study introduces new conceptualization of EC to an NPD project and defines an EC as an increase in a psychological force that binds a manager to a course of an NPD project. The new conceptualization of EC inherits three psychological components of commitment: affective commitment, normative commitment and continuance commitment. These EC components are driven by personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project and outcome based rewards. This study employs an experiment to investigate the effects of these antecedents of the psychological states of commitment that drive NPD managers to continue a failing NPD project. Based on the analysis of data collected for the experiment from managers, the following generalizations are made regarding managers' psychological states which influence their decision to continue an NPD project in the face of a feedback that the project is failing.

2. Major Findings

The study shows that personal responsibility to initiate NPD project escalates the affective and normative commitments at the outset of an NPD project. However, personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project does not escalate continuance commitment at NPD outset as predicted. These results suggest that managers, who are personally responsible for initiating an NPD project, are emotionally attached to and involved with the NPD project. Furthermore, these managers are likely bonded to the NPD project due to obligations and social expectations.

The study also finds that managers, who are responsible for initiating a NPD project, further escalate their affective and normative commitment in the face of feedback that the project is failing. Prior studies show that managers, who are personally responsible to initiate a NPD project, tend to persist with the NPD project in the face of a feedback suggesting its failure (Biyalgorsky et al. 2006; Schmidt and Calantone 2002). These prior studies posit that managers try to make the new project data fit previously held beliefs in this situation (Boulding et al. 1997). Augmenting this perspective, the current study find that managers actually escalate the affective and normative commitment in the face of feedback that suggests a potential failure of an NPD project. Furthermore, the current study delineate the process associated with EC due to personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project by showing that managers, who are personally responsible for initiating a NPD project, escalate their commitment at NPD outset and after the review of NPD failure data. Since evaluation of EC in behavioral terms (i.e. merely continuation of a failing NPD project) cannot facilitate such insights, the current study shows the advantage of viewing EC as an increase in the psychological aspects of commitment and charts a new research direction for EC scholars.

This research also shows that a manager, who is organizationally assigned an NPD project, escalates commitment when outcome-based rewards are associated with the project. However, in contrast to the results for personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project, outcome-based rewards escalate all three components of psychological commitment at an NPD outset. Furthermore, as it is expected for an attitudinal commitment-generating mechanism, this research shows that the effects of rewards remain unchanged after failure of the NPD project and no further escalation of psychological commitment from its level at NPD outset is observed. Researchers posit that entire organizations have a tendency to be enamored with NPD projects (Balachandra 1984; Schmidt and Calantone 2002). Perhaps the presence of outcome-based rewards explains this dynamic since rewards (e.g. money, satisfaction, achievement feeling) are typically tied to the successful outcome of any NPD project.

This study shows that the effect of outcome-based rewards on manager's psychological commitment at the outset of a NPD project is not the same among managers who are personally responsible for an NPD project. While outcome-based rewards escalate all three-commitment components for managers who are organizationally assigned an NPD project, the outcome-based rewards escalates only affective commitment when the manager is personally responsible for initiating the NPD project. Thus, the study identifies a significant effect of interaction between personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome-based rewards associated with the project on the psychological components of commitment at an outset of a NPD projects.

The study also finds that the effects of the interaction between personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome-based rewards associated with the project on NPD managers' commitment is significant after the failure of an NPD project. The effect of this interaction after an NPD failure differs from the effect of the interaction on commitment

components at an NPD outset. At the outset of an NPD project, the interaction only shows a positive effect on the affective commitment of the managers. However, after an NPD failure, the effect of the interaction is negative and significant for all three psychological commitments of such managers. Together, the effect of the interactions at NPD outset and post-failure enhances our understanding of the "reverse incentive phenomena" (Freedman et al. 1992). The focus of the extant research on the reverse incentive phenomena is on behavior. This research focuses on psychological states and indicates that only affective commitment may be involved in this phenomenon.

This research shows that the interaction between personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcome-based rewards associated with the success of the NPD project reduces managers' self justification associated with continuing a failing NPD project. While previous studies have posited self-justification as a rationale for EC and evaluated it qualitatively, the current study employs a quantitative measure of self-justification and provides direct empirical evidence by showing that managers' self-justification is reduced in the presence of outcome-based rewards for a self-initiated NPD project. Furthermore, the study shows that the decrease in managers' self-justification is positively correlated with lower intention to continue a failing NPD project.

Finally, this study examines the effects of interaction between the personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and the outcome-based rewards on managers' felt responsibility. The study identifies that at the outset of an NPD project managers, who are assigned to the project and managers who initiated the project, have equivalent felt responsibility towards the project. Furthermore, both groups of managers have an equal increase in felt responsibility when outcome-based rewards are associated with the NPD project. Interestingly, only the managers

who would be rewarded for a success of an initiated NPD project lowered felt responsibility after an NPD failure. Hence, this study provides an empirical evidence against O'Reilly and Caldwell's (1981) assertion that at an NPD outset rewards reduce the felt responsibility of a manager responsible for initiating the NPD project. Furthermore, the study shows that outcomebased rewarded managers, who are responsible for initiating a, NPD project, lowers felt responsibility only after NPD failure.

3. Summary of Findings

In summary, this research enhances our understanding of the EC phenomena and shows that personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project escalates commitment even before potential failure of the NPD project. While prior research has established a link between personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and escalation of commitment to the project, the current study shows the process associated with EC when a manager is personally responsibility to initiate a NPD project. In addition, the study identifies effects of outcome-based rewards on escalation of commitment of managers who were organizationally assigned an NPD project. While the effect of outcome-based rewards on managers, who are assigned an NPD project organizationally, remains stable between NPD outset and NPD failure, the study shows that the personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and the rewards associated with the success of an NPD project interact differentially on the components of commitment at the outset of an NPD project. Furthermore, the study shows that the effect of the interaction is different after the NPD failure and identifies affective commitment as the only salient component of commitment for the reverse incentive effect. Finally, since conceptualization of EC as a post failure continuation of an NPD project cannot provide such insight, the study introduce a new conceptualization of EC

and defines EC as increase in a force that binds a manager to an NPD project. Through this conceptualization, the study charts a new direction for the research on EC.

CHAPTER IX

IMPLICATIONS

This chapter discusses implications of the research findings. First, research implications are discussed. Then managerial implications are posited.

1. Research Implications

This study shows issues associated with a conceptualization of EC viewed as a behavioral continuation of a failing course and define EC as an increase in a psychological commitment. The study demonstrates advantages of evaluating EC as increase in a psychological commitment. When EC is evaluated merely as a behavioral continuation of a failing course, important intermediary psychological states possibly associated with this continuation of a failing course are ignored. Hence, the study steers EC research in a new direction and calls for researchers to pursue a mindset model of EC and to stress the mediatory influences of psychological and attitudinal commitment on explaining the wlys and wherefore of EC.

This research casts doubts against self-justification theory as a possible rationale for EC when a manager is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. Self-justification theory employs behavioral commitment which suggests a retrospective mechanism for building commitment. However, this research shows that manager's psychological commitment is escalated at the outset of an NPD project when he is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project. This result suggests that a prospective commitment building mechanism is operating due to a personal responsibility. Self-justification theory also employs cognitive dissonances theory (Festinger 1957), which posits that individual's psychological discomfort arising from an existence of dissonance (inconsistency between two cognitions held concurrently) motivates the
individual to reduce discomfort by achieving consonance (consistency between two cognitions held concurrently). While it is unlikely for a person to have a positive affect when he/she feels psychological discomfort, this study also shows that a manager, who is personally responsible for initiating an NPD project, escalates his affective and normative commitments in the face of a feedback that the project is failing. Perhaps managers do not experience cognitive dissonance and the justification of managers is a consequence of escalated commitment and/or continuation of a failing NPD project but not a cause of EC as suggested by the self-justification theory.

This research indicates that managers, who are organizationally assigned a NPD project, escalate all three components of commitment when outcome-based reward is associated with a success of the project. Harrison and Harrell (1993) employ the agency theory (Eisenhardt 1989) and suggest that managers will tend to continue with a failing NPD project when the condition of adverse selection exists. However, the study shows that privacy of information is not a necessary condition for managers to continue a failing NPD project. Despite the fact that no guidance regarding private or public information was given to the participants in the high reward condition, the participants showed a tendency to continue a failing NPD project.

Harrison and Harrell (1993) also suggest that outcome-based rewards will curb agent opportunism since outcome-based rewards can be expected to co-align the preferences of managers with those of the firm. This research suggests that outcome-based rewards are not as effective as suggested in curbing failing NPD projects. One would expect that when a manager co-aligns his/her preferences with those of the firm, he/she would discontinue a failing NPD project when the project's performance is lower than the objective criteria established by senior managers of the firm. However, this study finds that an NPD manager is more likely to continue the NPD project despite it is failing when an outcome-based reward is associated with the

59

success of organizationally assigned NPD project, than when an outcome-based reward is not associated with a success of organizationally assigned NPD project.

The study shows that personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and outcomebased rewards have differential effects on psychological commitment to an NPD project. While outcome-based rewards escalate only the affective commitment of a manager responsible for initiating a NPD project at the outset of an NPD project, the outcome-based rewards decrease felt responsibility as well as all three components of psychological commitment of a manager responsible for initiating an NPD project after the NPD failure. Hence, the study shows situation specific effects on felt responsibility and components of commitment when rewards and personal responsibility are involved in research.

2. Managerial Implications

Responsibility and rewards are two important tools available to organizations for promoting desired behaviors in NPD managers. While previous research has evaluated effects of personal responsibility or outcome based rewards on continuation of a failing NPD project, this research focuses on psychological states and shows a process associated with the continuation of a failing NPD project. Furthermore, this research shows effects of the interaction between personal responsibility to initiate NPD project and outcome-based rewards associated with the project on managers' psychological states. Understanding the joint effect is important because organizations use rewards and responsibilities simultaneously for promoting desired behaviors.

This study finds that outcome-based rewards are not effective in curbing a failing NPD projects as posited by Harrison and Harrell (1993). Hence, organizations should employ other rewards mechanisms such as process-based rewards when an NPD project is assigned to a manager. The study shows that managers, who are to be rewarded for a success of self-initiated

60

NPD project, escalate affective commitment at the outset of the NPD project. Furthermore, these NPD managers reduces their affective and continuance commitments after the NPD failure. For an organization, the increase in affective commitment due to rewards is desirable to promote "positive" behavior in the NPD manager. Similarly, the de-escalation of commitment and intention to discontinue a failing NPD project is desirable to avoid waste of resources on a failed NPD project. Hence, this research suggests for an outcome-based reward to managers responsible for initiating a NPD project. In summary, our research suggests differential reward mechanisms based on a personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project.

While the effects of personal responsibility at the outset of an NPD project may be beneficial to organizations, it is a concern to know that managers responsible for initiating a NPD project escalate affective commitment and normative commitment when the project is potentially failing. The escalation of affective commitment component suggests that managers continue a failing NPD project because of their emotional attachment to, identification with and involvement in the NPD project. Perhaps organizations should pre-commit these managers to a decision rule or assign decision-making responsibility to someone else as suggested by Boulding et al. (1997). Furthermore, escalation of the normative commitment component suggests that managers continue a failing NPD project because of norms or obligations. Hence, as suggested by Chandy and Tellis (1998), an organization should foster willingness to cannibalize a failing NPD project in its culture.

CHAPTER X

FUTURE RESEARCH

Several insights for future research can be obtained from this study. An implicit purpose of research on EC is to identify effective de-escalation strategies. This research suggests that managers responsible for initiating an NPD project escalate affective and normative commitments when the project is failing. Ideally, managers should reduce their affective and normative commitments towards the failing project. Hence, future research should focus on identifying de-escalation strategies that reduce the affective and normative commitments of managers.

This study suggests that personal responsibility to initiate a NPD project escalates the psychological commitment components at an outset of a NPD project. According to Meyer and Allen (1991), each component of commitment influences a diverse set of behaviors such as attendance at work, higher work effort and performance as well as willingness to engage in out-of-role behavior. While significant attention has been given to the effects of personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project on continuation of a failing NPD project, researchers need to understand broader behavioral consequences of personal responsibility to initiate an NPD project and guide practitioners to take advantage of escalated commitment.

Organizations use rewards to elicit desired behavior from employees. While outcomebased rewards may elicit desired positive behaviors, this research show that the outcome-based is a double-edged sword in that outcome-based rewarded managers, who are organizationally assigned a NPD project, continue the project in the face of feedback that it is failing. The

62

outcome-based rewards are not effective in aligning NPD managers' interests with organizational preferences. Hence, future research should focus on evaluating effectiveness of other rewards mechanisms such as process-based rewards.

This study introduces a view of evaluating escalation of commitment to understand a process associated with EC. Researchers have proposed and verified multiple theoretical rationales for EC. Furthermore, they have identified various antecedent conditions that trigger EC. Future research should employ the introduced view to identify process and psychological mindsets associated with EC based on these theoretical mechanisms and antecedent conditions.

REFERENCES

Balachandra, R. (1984), "Critical Signals for Making Go/NoGo Decisions in New Product Development," Journal of Product Innovation Management, 92-100.

Bansal, Harvir, P. Gregory Irving, and Shirely Taylor (2004), "A Three-Component Model of Customer Commitment to Service Provider," Journal of The Academy of Marketing Science, 32 (3), 234-50.

Baron, Reuben M. and David A. Kenny (1986), "The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 51 (6), 1173-82.

Bart, Christopher K. (1988), "Organizing for New Product Development," The Journal of Business Strategy, 34-38.

Barton, S. L., D. Duchon, and K. J. Dunegan (1989), "An Empirical-Test of Staw and Ross Prescriptions for the Management of Escalation of Commitment Behavior in Organizations," Decision Sciences, 20 (3), 532-44.

Biddle, B. J. (1979), Role Theory Expectations, Identities, and Behaviors. New York, New York: Academic Press, Inc.

Biyalgorsky, Eyal, William Boulding, and Richard Staelin (2006), "Stuck In The Past: Why Managers Persist With New Product Failures?," Journal of Marketing, Forth Coming.

Bobocel, D. R. and J. P. Meyer (1994), "Escalating Commitment to a Failing Course of Action -Separating the Roles of Choice and Justification," Journal of Applied Psychology, 79 (3), 360-63.

Boulding, W., R. Morgan, and R. Staelin (1997), "Pulling the plug to stop the new product drain," Journal of Marketing Research, 34 (1), 164-76.

Brockner, J. (1992), "The Escalation of Commitment to a Failing Course of Action - Toward Theoretical Progress," Academy of Management Review, 17 (1), 39-61.

Brockner, J., J. Z. Rubin, and E Lang (1981), "Face-saving and entrapment," Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 17, 68-79.

Calder, Bobby, Michael Ross, and Chester Insko (1973), "Attitude Change and Attitude Attribution: Effects of Incentive, Choice and Consequences," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 25 (1).

Caldwell, D. F. and C. A. O'Reilly (1982), "Responses to Failure - the Effects of Choice and Responsibility on Impression Management," Academy of Management Journal, 25 (1), 121-36.

Chandy, R. K. and G. J. Tellis (1998), "Organizing for radical product innovation: The overlooked role of willingness to cannibalize," Journal of Marketing Research, 35 (4), 474-87.

Chow, C. W., K. M. Haddad, and A. Wongboren (1991), "Improving Subjective Decision-Making in Health-Care Administration," Hospital & Health Services Administration, 36 (2), 191-210.

Conlon, E. J. and J. M. Parks (1987), "Information Requests in the Context of Escalation," Journal of Applied Psychology, 72 (3), 344-50.

Cooper, Robert G. (1994), "Third Generation New Product Process," Journal of Product Innovation Management, 11 (January), 3-14.

Cooper, Robert G., Scott J. Edgett, and Elko J. Kleinschmidt (2002), "Optimizing the Stage-Gate Process: What Best-Practice Companies Do-II," Research Technology Management, 43-49.

Crawford, JC. Merle (1977), "Marketing Research and the New Product Failure Rate," Journal of Marketing, 40 (2), 51-61.

Daley, J. P. and P. D. Geyer (1994), "The role of fairness in implementing large scale change: Employee evaluations of process and outcome in seven facility relocations," OJournal of Organizational Behavior, 15 (7), 623-38.

Davis, Craig R. (2002), "Calculated Risk: A Framework for Evaluating Product Development," MIT Sloan Management Review (71-77).

DeShon, R. P. and R. S. Landis (1977), "The dimensionality of the Bollenbeck, Williams and Klein (1989) measure of goal commitment on complex tasks.," Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 70, 105-16.

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989), "Agency theory: An assessment and review," Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74.

Eisenhardt, Kathleen M. (1985), "Control: Organizational and Economic Approaches," Management Science, 31 (2), 134-49.

Festinger, L. (1957), A theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Evanston, IL: Row, Peterson.

Fields, Dail L. (2002), Taking the measure of work. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Fishbein, Martin and Icek Ajzen (1980), Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior. Englewod Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Fox, F. V. and B. M. Staw (1979), "Trapped Administrator - Effects of Job Insecurity and Policy Resistance Upon Commitment to a Course of Action," Administrative Science Quarterly, 24 (3), 449-71.

Freedman, Jonathan L., John A. Cunningham, and Kristen Krismer (1992), "Inferred Values and the Reverse-ncentive Effect in Induced Compliance," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 62 (3), 357-68.

Harrison, P. D. and A. Harrell (1993), "Impact of Adverse Selection on Managers Project Evaluation Decisions," Academy of Management Journal, 36 (3), 635-43.

Heath, C. (1995), "Escalation and De-Escalation of Commitment in Response to Sunk Costs - the Role of Budgeting in Mental Accounting," Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 62 (1), 38-54.

Kahneman, D. and A. Tversky (1979), "Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decisions Under Risk," PEconometrica, 47 (March), 263-91.

---- (1982), "Psychology of preferences," Scientific American, 246, 161-73.

Katz, Danial and Robert L. Kahn (1978), The social psychology of organization. New York: Wiley.

Keil, M., J. Mann, and A. Rai (2000), "Why software projects escalate: An empirical analysis and test of four theoretical models," Mis Quarterly, 24 (4), 631-64.

Keli, Mark (1995), "Escalation of Commitment in Information Systems Development: A Comparison of Three Theories," in Academy of Management Best Paper Proceedings. Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.

Langer, E. J. (1975), "The illusion of ctonrol.," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 32, 311-28.

Lipshitz, R. (1995), "The Road to Desert-Storm," Organization Studies, 16 (2), 243-63.

Meyer, J. P. and N. J. Allen (1991), "A Three-Component Conceptualization of Organizational Commitment," Human Resource Management Review, 1 (1), 61-89.

Meyer, J. P. and L. Herscovitch (2001), "Commitment in the workplace: Toward a general Model," Human Resource Management Review, 11, 299-326.

Meyer, John P. and Natalie J. Allen (1997), Commitment in the Workplace: Theory, Research, and Application. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publication.

Morrison, Elizabeth Wolfe and Corey C. Phelps (1999), "Taking Charge at Work: Extrarole Efforts to Initiate Workplace Change," Academy of Management Journal, 42 (4), 403-19.

Nunnally, Jum C. (1978), Psychometric Theory (2d ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

O'Driscoll, MIchael P. and Donna M. Randall (1999), "Perceived Organisational Support, Satisfaction with Rewards, and Employee Job Involvement and Organisational Commitmet," Applied Psychology: An International Review, 48 (2), 197-209.

Onifade, E., P. D. Harrison, and T. P. Cafferty (1997), "Causal attributions for poorly performing projects: Their effect on project continuation decisions," Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 27 (5), 439-52.

O'Reilly, Charles and David Caldwell (1981), "The Commitment and Job Tenure of New Employees: Some Evidences of Postdecisional Justification.," Administrative Science Quarterly, 26, 597-616.

Page, Albert L. (1993), "Assessing New Product Development Practices and Performance: Establishing Crucial Norms," Journal of Product Innovation Management, 10 (September), 273-90.

Ross, J. and B. M. Staw (1986), "Expo 86 - an Escalation Prototype," Administrative Science Quarterly, 31 (2), 274-97.

Scher, Steven J. and Joel Cooper (1989), "Motivational Basis of Dissonance: The Singular Role fo Behavioral Consequences," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 56 (6), 899-906.

Schmidt, J. B. and R. J. Calantone (1998), "Are really new product development projects harder to shut down?," Journal of Product Innovation Management, 15 (2), 111-23.

---- (2002), "Escalation of commitment during new product development," Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 30 (2), 103-18.

Schmidt, J. B., M. M. Montoya-Weiss, and A. P. Massey (2001), "New product development decision-making effectiveness: Comparing individuals, face-to-face teams, and virtual teams," Decision Sciences, 32 (4), 575-600.

Scholl, R. W. (1981), "Differentiating commitment from expectancy as a motivating force.," Academy of Management Review, 6 (589-599).

Staw, B. M. (1976), "Knee-Deep in Big Muddy - Study of Escalating Commitment to a Chosen Course of Action," Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 16 (1), 27-44.

Staw, B. M., S. G. Barsade, and K. W. Koput (1997), "Escalation at the credit window: A longitudinal study of bank executives' recognition and write-off of problem loans," Journal of Applied Psychology, 82 (1), 130-42.

Staw, B. M. and F. V. Fox (1977), "Escalation - Determinants of Commitment to a Chosen Course of Action," Human Relations, 30 (5), 431-50.

Staw, B. M. and J. Ross (1980), "Commitment in an Experimenting Society - a Study of the Attribution of Leadership from Administrative Scenarios," Journal of Applied Psychology, 65 (3), 249-60.

---- (1978), "Commitment to a Policy Decision - Multi-Theoretical Perspective," Administrative Science Quarterly, 23 (1), 40-64.

---- (1987), "Knowing When to Pull the Plug," Harvard Business Review, 65 (2), 68-74.

---- (1989), "Understanding Behavior in Escalation Situations," Science, 246 (4927), 216-20.

Staw, Barry M. (1981), "The Escalation of Commitment To a Course of Action," Academy of Management Review, 6 (4), 577-87.

---- (1997), "The escalation of commitment: An update and appraisal," in Organizational Decision Making, Zur Shapira, Ed. Cambridge: Press Syndicate of the University of Cambridge.

Strube, M. J. and C. L. Lott (1984), "Time urgency and the Type A behavior pattern Implications for time investment and psychological entrapment," Journal of Research in Personality, 18, 395-409.

Trochim, William (2001), The research methods knowledge basse (2nd ed.). Cincinnati: Atomic Dog Publishing.

Tylor, S. E. (1989), Positive illusions. New York: Basic Books.

Urban, Glen L. and John R. Hauser (1993), Design and Marketing of New Products (2nd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Weiner, B. (1986), An attributional theory of achievement motivation and emotion. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

---- (1985), "An attributional theory of motivation and emotion," Psychological Review, 92, 548-73.

Whyte, G. (1986), "Escalating Commitment to a Course of Action - a Reinterpretation," Academy of Management Review, 11 (2), 311-21.

Wiener, W. (1982), "Commitment in organizations: A normative view.," Academy of Management Review, 7, 418-28.

APPENDIX

Sample Data Collection Instrument

Introduction to the task

The purpose of this study is to survey your attitudes and opinions in a described business situation. Please follow the instructions throughout the booklet and give input as if you are working in a real company in a real work environment.

The information provided in this booklet is sufficient for your inputs. Hence, please ignore the need for additional data. You may use any blank space on this booklet to make notes as you wish. No interaction is allowed between research participants until all participants finish their tasks.

Please go to the next page and begin.

Company related description

Imagine that you are working for company Temp Control Corporation (TCC), a manufacturer of temperature control units to adjust home temperatures, with an annual turnover of \$76 million. One of the products of TCC is a control unit for a single-family residence. It has four-fixed time slots through which the homeowner programs the temperature of his/her house for 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 5:00 pm and 10:00 pm for each day. The control unit starts the A/C or heater at the programmed time and maintains the temperature of all rooms to the programmed temperature till subsequent time slot.

TCC initiates many new product development (NPD) projects for the growth of the company. TCC executives prefer that new products achieve a 25% market share and 12% profitability. They have implemented a two- step process for NPD.

- First, an idea is accepted for development depending on available resources.
- Second, R&D develops the product based on defined specifications. In addition, marketing and production prepares for a potential product launch and generates estimates of market potential. Typically these estimates have 30% margin of error.

Typical estimates generated include market share, profit, sales and future cost projections, as well as an overall market desirability score between 1 (not desired) to 100 (desired). A desirability score of 60 or above is an indication of a really good market need while a desirability score of 85 or above is an indication of a strong market need.

At the end of the development, a "go/no-go" decision is made for the market launch.

Currently, two new product development ideas are being considered for development at TCC. Since company resources are limited, it is your responsibility to select and work on one of these two projects for product development. A bonus of \$150,000 will be given to you if the project you worked on is successful in the market. Furthermore, TCC executive team may promote you if the developed product is a success in the market.

Based on the description of these projects which of the following ideas will you choose for development? (*Please read project descriptions bellow and select a project*)

<u>Project 1:</u> This project involves a small upgrade of the software so that instead of four fixed time slots for temperature, it will be possible to have 6 fixed time slots for temperature. Thus, even though the change in technology is marginal, it enables homeowners to maintain the temperature of the house at fixed time slots of 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 12:00 pm, 5:00 pm, 7:00 pm and 10:00 pm automatically.

<u>Project 2:</u> This project requires minor enhancement of software so that the homeowners can program time slots (instead of fixed time slots of 6:00 am, 8:00 am, 5:00 pm, and 10:00 pm) as well as the temperature they wish to maintain. Thus, even though the change in technology is marginal, it enables homeowners to maintain the temperature of the house at four adjustable time slots automatically.

I will select project #: _____.

My reasons for selecting this project are:

Please write your reasons here to justify your selection to TCC executives and fellow team members.

Please give the following input regarding the chosen project. The description you have reviewed is sufficient. Hence, please ignore the need for additional information. Please talk privately to the researcher if you have a question regarding any tasks. Please do not talk to other research participants. Please give this input as if you are working in a real company in a real work environment and based on consideration of the information provided. **Remember to check every scale and do not omit any**. **Please do not put more than one check mark on a single scale**.

In my view the chosen project is

1.	Important _	_:_	:_	:_	:_	_:_	_:	_ Unimportant
2.	Irrelevant _	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	:	_ Relevant
3.	Means a lot to me	:_	:_	:_	:_	_:_	:	_ Means nothing to me
4.	Matters to me	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_Doesn't matter
5.	Boring	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_Interesting
6.	Appealing	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_:	_Unappealing
7.	Unexciting	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_Exciting
8.	Of no concern to me	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_:	_ of concern to me
9.	Dull	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_:_	_:	Neat
10	Fun	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:_	_:	_Not fun

Now, please provide input regarding **your attitude towards this project** by selecting appropriate box. Please ignore the need for additional information. Please talk privately to the researcher if you have a question regarding any tasks. Please do not talk to other research participants. Please provide input as if you are working in a real company in a real work environment.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
11. I would feel a personal sense of responsibility for the success of the chosen project.							
12. It would be up to me to make the chosen project successful.							
13. I would take responsibility to introduce new procedures where appropriate for the success of the chosen project.							
14. It would not be my responsibility to correct problem related to the chosen project.							
15. I would not change or challenge status quo related to the chosen project.							
16. I would be very happy to spend my work time on chosen project.							
17. Staying with chosen project would be a matter of necessity as much as desire.							
18. I would not feel obliged to continue the chosen project.							
19. I would not feel "emotionally attached" to chosen project.							
20. I would feel guilty if I discontinue chosen project.							

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
21. I would feel that chosen project's problems are my own.							
22. It would be hard for me to discontinue chosen project, even if I wanted to.							
23. Even if it were to my advantage, I would not feel it would be right to discontinue chosen project.							
24. Moving to other project would require considerable personal sacrifice; another project may not offer the overall benefits I would get from chosen project.							
25. I would not feel a strong sense of belonging to chosen project.							
26. I owe a great deal to work on chosen project.							
28. One of the few negative consequences of discontinuing chosen project would be the scarcity of similar opportunity.							
29. I would not feel that chosen project is my own project.							
30. The chosen project would deserve my loyalty.							
 If so much were not at a stake with chosen project, I would consider discontinuing it. 							
32. The chosen project would have great deal of personal meaning for me.							

Product Development Results

At the end of a development stage, project report indicates that the R&D has tested the technical modifications and has given a green signal. The production department has projected the cost of this project to be \$3.6 million (net present value). Furthermore, marketing research estimates profits of approximately \$175,000 per year from18% market share and 7% profitability for this product. The research also shows that the desirability score for this product is 85 and suggests a strong need for the product in the market.

Now, please provide input regarding **your attitude towards this project** by selecting appropriate box. The description you reviewed is sufficient. Hence, please ignore the need for additional information. Please talk privately to the researcher if you have a question regarding any tasks. Please do not talk to other research participants. Please provide input as if you are working in a real company in a real work environment.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
 I would feel a personal sense of responsibility for the success of the chosen project. 							
34. It would be up to me to make the chosen project successful.							
35. I would take responsibility to introduce new procedures where appropriate for the success of the chosen project.							
 It would not be my responsibility to correct problem related to the chosen project. 							
37. I would not change or challenge status quo related to the chosen project.							
 I would be very happy to spend my work time on chosen project. 							
39. Staying with chosen project would be a matter of necessity as much as desire.							

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
40. I would not feel obliged to continue the chosen project.							
41. I would not feel "emotionally attached" to chosen project.							
42. I would feel guilty if I discontinue chosen project.							
43. I believe that I have too few options to discontinue chosen project.							
44. I would not discontinue chosen project because I would have a sense of obligation to continue it.							
45. I would feel that chosen project's problems are my own.							
46. It would be hard for me to discontinue chosen project, even if I wanted to.							
47. Even if it were to my advantage, I would not feel it would be right to discontinue chosen project.							
48. Moving to other project would require considerable personal sacrifice; another project may not offer the overall benefits I would get from chosen project.							
49. I would not feel a strong sense of belonging to chosen project.							
50. I owe a great deal to work on chosen project.							

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
51. One of the few negative consequences of discontinuing chosen project would be the scarcity of similar opportunity.							
52. I would not feel that chosen project is my own project.							
53. The chosen project would deserve my loyalty.							
54. If so much were not at a stake with chosen project, I would consider discontinuing it.							
55. The chosen project would have great deal of personal meaning for me.							

56. How likely is it that you would authorize the funds necessary to launch the product in the market?

Not at all Likely									Extremely Likely
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

57. a) Would you continue the project and launch the product in a market? (Please check one of the answer)

Yes _____ No _____

b) Please indicate how likely you are to continue the project and launch the product in the market?

Not at all Likely								Extremely Likely
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Please write your rationale for answers to question #57.

58. If your department has 3 million dollar budget for new projects how much will you request for the project? (Please write your answer)

I will request ______ for the project. (Please write \$ amount)

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
59. I have strong reasons for continuing the project.							
60. The project description provides sufficient information suggesting potential success of the project.							
61. There is little negative information pertaining to the project.							
62. It was difficult decision for me to continue the project.							
63. I do not want to explain my decision to others.							

64. If you have an option of switching to work on different new product development project would you switch to a new project?

Definitely								
Would Not	t			Even				Definitely
Switch				Chance				Would Switch
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Your observations about your role.

Please provide the following information about the role you assumed in this survey.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Some What Agree	Neutral	Some What Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
65. I selected the new product development project to work on.							
66. My predecessor selected the new product development project to work on.							
67. Significant rewards were explicitly tied to the success of the chosen project.							
68. No financial rewards were explicitly tied with the success of the project.							
69. I can identify with the scenario as described.							
70. The scenario described here has realistic information.							
71. I was involved in the scenario during my participation							

Demographics and Work Related Information

Please provide the following information. Your input is anonymous. Please be as candid as you can.

- 72. Your Age: _____
- 73. Male / Female
- 74. Professional Experience: _____ years ____ months (Please give numbers)
- 75. Tenure at current job: ______ years _____ months (Please give numbers)

76. Approximate Number of Employees in your Company _____

- 77. Approximate Revenue of your company _____
- 78. Are you working on or have you worked on a new product development project for your company? (Please indicate Yes or No) _____
 - a. If answer is yes, approximately how many new product development projects you have worked on?
 - b. If answer is yes, approximately how many years you have worked on new product development?
 - c. If answer is yes what is the largest financial decision you were involved in for a new product development? ______ (Please write \$ amount)
- 79. Are you involved in resource allocation decisions for projects other than new product development projects at your company? (Please indicate Yes or No)
 - a. If answer is yes what is the largest financial decision you were involved in for a non-new product development project? ______ (Please write \$ amount)

Thank you for volunteering. Please return this booklet to administrator.